
     Ffôn/Tel: 01656 643643                                                   Facs/Fax: 01656 668126          Ebost/Email: talktous@bridgend.gov.uk                                                                                 
     Negeseuon SMS/ SMS Messaging: 07581 157014           Twitter@bridgendCBC              Gwefan/Website: www.bridgend.gov.uk

Cyfnewid testun: Rhowch 18001 o flaen unrhyw un o’n rhifau ffon ar gyfer y gwasanaeth trosglwyddo testun
Text relay: Put 18001 before any of our phone numbers for the text relay service

Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth yn y Gymraeg. Rhowch wybod i ni os yw eich dewis iaith yw’r Gymraeg 
We welcome correspondence in Welsh. Please let us know if your language choice is Welsh

Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. 
Rhowch wybod i ni os mai Cymraeg yw eich 

dewis iaith.
We welcome correspondence in Welsh. Please 
let us know if your language choice is Welsh.

Gwasanaethau Gweithredol a Phartneriaethol / 
Operational and Partnership Services
Deialu uniongyrchol / Direct line /: 01656 643148 / 
643147
Gofynnwch am / Ask for:  Mark Anthony Galvin

Ein cyf / Our ref:      
Eich cyf / Your ref:      

Dyddiad/Date: Dydd Gwener, 24 Tachwedd 2017

Annwyl Cynghorydd, 

PWYLLGOR SAFONNAU

Cynhelir Cyfarfod  Pwyllgor Safonnau yn Ystafelloedd Pwyllgor 2/3 - Swyddfeydd Dinesig, Stryd yr 
Angel, Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr CF31 4WB ar Dydd Iau, 30 Tachwedd 2017 am 11.30 am.

AGENDA

1. Ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb  
Derbyn ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb gan Aelodau.

2. Datganiadau o Ddiddordeb  
Derbyn datganiadau o ddiddordeb personol a rhagfarnol (os o gwbl) gan Aelodau / 
Swyddogion yn unol â darpariaethau'r Cod Ymddygiad Aelodau a fabwysiadwyd gan y 
Cyngor o 1 Medi 2008.

3. Cymeradwyaeth Cofnodion  3 - 6
I dderbyn am gymeradwyaeth y Cofnodion cyfarfod y 22 Mehefin a 27 Gorffennaf 2017. 

4. Coflyfr yr Ombwdsmon 7 - 66

5. Un Llais Cymru - Protocol Enghreifftiol 67 - 74

6. Panel Dyfarnu ar gyfer Adroddiad Blynyddol Cymru 75 - 92

7. Adolygiad o Ddisgrifiadau Rolau'r Aelodau Etholedig 93 - 98

8. Strategaeth Dysgu a Datblygu'r Aelodau Etholedig 99 - 116

9. Materion Brys  
I ystyried unrhyw eitemau o fusnes y, oherwydd amgylchiadau arbennig y cadeirydd o'r farn 
y dylid eu hystyried yn y cyfarfod fel mater o frys yn unol â pharagraff 2.4 (e) o'r Rheolau 
Trefn y Cabinet yn y Cyfansoddiad.

10. Gwahardd y Cyhoedd  

Public Document Pack

mailto:talktous@bridgend.gov.uk
http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


Gofynnwyd i'r pwyllgor wahardd y cyhoedd o'r cyfarfod er mwyn iddo ystyried yr eitem 
fusnes/eitemau busnes a nodwyd yn argymhelliad yr adroddiad ar y sail ei/eu bod yn 
debygol o ddatgelu gwybodaeth eithriedig fel y nodir ym mharagraff gwahardd 12A Deddf 
Llywodraeth Leol 1972 fel y'i diwygiwyd gan Orchymyn Llywodraeth Leol (Mynediad i 
Wybodaeth) (Amrywiad) (Cymru) 2007 mewn perthynas ag eitemau busnes a nodir yn yr 
adroddiad. 

Os bydd yn dilyn cymhwyso prawf budd y cyhoedd y Pwyllgor penderfynu unol â Deddf i 
ystyried yr eitem hon yn breifat, bydd gwahardd y cyhoedd o'r cyfarfod yn ystod ystyriaeth 
o'r fath.

11. Cymeradwyaeth Cofnodion Gwahardd  117 - 120
I dderbyn am gymeradwyaeth y Cofnodion Gwahardd cyfarfod y 22 Mehefin a 27 Gorffennaf 
2017

Yn ddiffuant
P A Jolley
Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau Gweithredol a Phartneriaethol 

Dosbarthiad:

Cynghowrwyr Cynghorwyr Cynghorwyr
Mr P Clarke
MC Clarke
Mrs J Kiely

Mr C Jones OBE
DRW Lewis
Mr J Baker

Mr G Walter



STANDARDS COMMITTEE - THURSDAY, 22 JUNE 2017

1

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE STANDARDS COMMITTEE HELD IN COMMITTEE 
ROOMS 2/3, CIVIC OFFICES ANGEL STREET BRIDGEND CF31 4WB ON THURSDAY, 22 
JUNE 2017 AT 2.00 PM

Present

Councillor Mr C Jones OBE – Chairperson 

Mr P Clarke Mrs J Kiely DRW Lewis Mr J Baker

Apologies for Absence

MC Clarke

Officers:

Laura Griffiths Principal Solicitor
Andrew Jolley Corporate Director Operational & Partnership Services
Andrew Rees Senior Democratic Services Officer - Committees

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Councillor DRW Lewis declared a personal interest in agenda item 6 – Shortlisting of 
candidates for the Position of Town & Community Councillor as one of the candidates 
sits on St Brides Minor Community Council which he is also a member of.  

2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES

RESOLVED:                That the minutes of the meeting of the Standards Committee of 
23 March 2017 were approved as a true and accurate record.     

3. URGENT ITEMS

There were no urgent items.

4. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC

RESOLVED:                That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 
as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) 
(Variation) (Wales) Order 2007, the public be excluded from the 
meeting during consideration of the following item of business, as 
the report contains exempt information as defined in Paragraph 
12 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A and Paragraph 21 of Part 5 of 
Schedule 12A of the Act:-

 
Following the application of the public interest test it was 
resolved that pursuant to the provisions of the Act referred to 
above, to consider the under-mentioned item in private with the 
public being excluded from the meeting, as it would involve the 
disclosure to them of exempt information as stated above.   

5. SHORTLISTING OF CANDIDATES FOR THE POSITION OF TOWN & COMMUNITY 
COUNCILLOR

The meeting closed at 3.05 pm 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank



STANDARDS COMMITTEE - THURSDAY, 27 JULY 2017

1

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE STANDARDS COMMITTEE HELD IN COMMITTEE 
ROOMS 2/3, CIVIC OFFICES ANGEL STREET BRIDGEND CF31 4WB ON THURSDAY, 27 
JULY 2017 AT 1.00 PM

Present

Councillor Mr C Jones OBE – Chairperson 

Mr P Clarke Mrs J Kiely DRW Lewis Mr J Baker

Apologies for Absence

MC Clarke

Officers:

Laura Griffiths Principal Solicitor
Andrew Jolley Corporate Director Operational & Partnership Services
Andrew Rees Senior Democratic Services Officer - Committees

7. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Councillor DRW Lewis declared a personal interest in agenda item 6 – Shortlisting of 
candidates for the Position of Town & Community Councillor as one of the candidates 
sits on St Brides Minor Community Council which he is also a member of.  

8. URGENT ITEMS

There were no urgent items.

9. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC

RESOLVED:           That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 as 
amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) 
(Variation) (Wales) Order 2007, the public be excluded from the 
meeting during consideration of the following item of business, as 
the report contains exempt information as defined in Paragraph 12 
of Part 4 of Schedule 12A and Paragraph 21 of Part 5 of Schedule 
12A of the Act:-

 
Following the application of the public interest test it was resolved 
that pursuant to the provisions of the Act referred to above, to 
consider the under-mentioned item in private with the public being 
excluded from the meeting, as it would involve the disclosure to 
them of exempt information as stated above.

10. PROCESS FOR INTERVIEW OF SHORTLISTED CANDIDATES FOR TOWN AND 
COMMUNITY COUNCIL REPRESENTATIVES ON THE STANDARDS COMMITTEE

The meeting closed at 4.10 pm

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO THE STANDARDS COMMITTEE  

30 NOVEMBER 2017

REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER

OMBUDSMAN CASEBOOK

1. Purpose of Report

1.1 To provide Members with a summary of cases that have been undertaken by the 
Ombudsman’s Office.  

2. Connection to Corporate Improvement Plan / Other Corporate Priority

2.1 Standards are an implicit requirement in the successful implementation of the 
Corporate Themes.

3. Background

3.1 The Ombudsman’s Casebook is published on a quarterly basis and contains the 
summaries of all reports issued during the quarter, as well as a selection of 
summaries relating to quick fixes and voluntary settlements. 

4. Current situation / proposal

4.1 The Casebook issued in October 2017 is attached at Appendix 1.  

5. Effect upon Policy Framework& Procedure Rules

5.1 None.  

6. Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 None. 

7. Financial Implications

7.1 None.   

8. Recommendation

8.1 The Committee is recommended to note the report. 

     

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



Contact Officer: Mr P A Jolley  
Corporate Director – Operational & Partnership Services and 
Monitoring Officer

Telephone: (01656) 643106
E-mail: Andrew. Jolley@bridgend.gov.uk 

Postal Address Level 2,
Civic Offices, 
Angel Street, 
Bridgend
CF31 4WB 

Background Documents
None 

Page 8



Issue 30 November 2017

Local Goverment Sounding 
Board

After the success of the 
service user and health 
sounding boards, we 
recently established our 
third group for the local 
government sector. 

Members include chief 
executives, Ombudsman 
contact officers, monitoring 
officers, the WLGA and 
representatives from 
various local authority 
departments such as 
planning and development; 
social services; children 
& young people and 
environment. 

The first meeting took 
place on 11 September 
and useful discussions took 
place on a variety of topics 
including shared services 
and the improvement 
officer role.

News
NHS Complaints Rise by 8%

Figures from the 2016/17 PSOW 
Annual Report show an 8% 
rise in complaints against NHS 
bodies, with health complaints 
making up 38% of the office’s 
caseload. 

Overall casework statistics show 
that there was 6,804 complaints 
and enquiries made during the 
financial year and that overall 
casework has increased by 75% 
over the past six years. 

Public Services Ombudsman (Wales) Bill

The new bill was introduced to the Assembly by the Chair of the 
Finance Committee, Simon Thomas, on Monday 2nd October. 

The Bill will now be considered by the Assembly’s Equality, Local 
Government and Communities Committee at the first stage of the 
law-making process. For further information on the bill please visit 
here and for the legislative timetable please visit here.

Page 9

http://www.assembly.wales/en/newhome/pages/newsitem.aspx?itemid=1764&assembly=5
http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=20012


Contents 

2

Casebook in numbers

What’s in the postbag?

Health

Benefits Administration

Community Facilities, Recreation and Leisure

Complaint Handling

Education

Environment and Environmental Health

Housing

Planning and Building Control

Self-funding Care Provider

Social Services - Adult

Social Services - Children

Various Other

More Information

3

4

5

37

38

39

44

45

46

48

50

51

54

56

58

Page 10



Casebook  in numbers 
These infographics illustrate the cases closed between July and September 2017 by subject and outcome. 
They do not include enquiries or complaints deemed premature (where public bodies have not been given 
the opportunity to resolve a complaint locally) or out of jurisdiction. Please note the early resolutions 
category also includes voluntary settlements.

3

Page 11



4

What’s in the postbag? 
The casebook contains summaries of all PSOW closed cases, but the office can often become aware 
of public service issues developing at the front end of our service where the Complaint Advice Team 
(CAT) deals with complaints and enquiries at the initial stage.

In the Ombudsman’s latest thematic report, ‘Ending Groundhog Day: Lessons from Poor Complaint 
Handling’, he found in too many of the cases that come to this office, service failure is compounded by 
the respective organisation failing to investigate the original complaint correctly. 

The following two recent issues which have emerged and are examples of this and the Ombudsman 
wishes to highlight them to ensure they are addressed by local authorities.  

Planning

We are seeing a number of complaints relating to planning enforcement matters being automatically 
referred back to local authorities’ Planning Departments to deal with. 

Some of these complaints can contain different elements - for example, regarding delay or service 
failure - and should be addressed by the body as a corporate complaint. As they are being directed to 
Planning Departments by officials, these elements are not being dealt with. It also gives the impression 
to complainants that those concerns are not being objectively considered in that officers involved in 
the substantive matter are permitted to “oversee themselves”.

In our thematic report we highlighted the importance of effective governance to ensure the person 
investigating is sufficiently independent of the events complained about. 

Social Services 

Our caseload shows that there is an inconsistent approach being applied by local authorities across 
Wales when deciding to “allow” a complainant to go through a stage 2 independent investigation rath-
er than simply accepting the complainant’s right to one. 

There is anecdotal evidence from our caseload that some local authorities are refusing stage 2 investi-
gations when complainants are seen as being “difficult.” This is clearly unacceptable as often this client 
group is particularly vulnerable. 

Guidance on the formal investigation stages can be found in both the Social Services Complaints Pro-
cedure (Wales) Regulations 2014 and in Welsh Government Guidance, ‘A guide to handling complaints 
and representations by local authority social services’.

The latter states: 

“Whilst the majority of complaints and representations should be resolved by Local Resolution, the 
complainant should be made aware that they have the right to choose that their complaint be dealt 
with as a Formal Investigation.”

This is something the Ombudsman would expect local authorities to address as a matter of urgency 
and the office will be monitoring new complaints received to see if there are further examples. 

Page 12

http://www.ombudsman-wales.org.uk/~/media/Files/Thematic%20Reports/22624%20Thematic%20report_GroundhogDay_ENGLISH_Final%20FOR%20ISSUE.ashx
http://www.ombudsman-wales.org.uk/~/media/Files/Thematic%20Reports/22624%20Thematic%20report_GroundhogDay_ENGLISH_Final%20FOR%20ISSUE.ashx


Health
The following summaries relate to public interest reports issued under Section 16 of the Public Services
Ombudsman (Wales) Act 2005.

Cwm Taf University Health Board – Clinical treatment in hospital 
Case Number 201604327 - Report issued in July 2017
Mr D complained to the Ombudsman about the manner in which Cwm Taf University Health Board (“the 
Health Board”) dealt with his complaint under NHS complaints procedure about the care his late moth-
er (“Mrs D”) received. Mr D was particularly concerned about the length of time it took for the Health 
Board to respond to him after it had identified that it had breached its duty of care towards his mother 
and with the response he ultimately received from the Health Board.

The Ombudsman found that the Health Board had taken too long to investigate the matter under the 
relevant redress arrangements, had misplaced Mrs D, records and failed to inform Mr D when offering 
him a full and final settlement, that the clinician whose advice they had relied upon in its response letter 
to Mr D did not have access to Mrs D’s records. The Ombudsman found that the delay in dealing with 
the redress issue coupled with the lack of transparency in the Health Board’s redress response to Mr D 
amounted to clear maladministration leading to injustice to Mr D. 

The Ombudsman upheld the complaint. 

He recommended the Health Board:

a) apologise to Mr D

b) provide him with redress of £2000 for the distress he and Mrs D would have experienced as a result 
of the shortcomings identified

c) provide Mr D with redress of £500 for his time and trouble in pursuing the complaint over a pro-
longed period of time

d) provide Mr D with free legal advice and arrange for joint instruction of an independent clinical ad-
viser to consider whether Mrs D had suffered harm as a result of the shortcoming the Health Board 
identified

e) if it was not possible to arrange such an instruction in a timely manner, that Mr D be paid a further 
£1500 in redress to reflect the lost opportunity to have his mother’s care considered appropriately

f) ensure that all relevant staff are formally reminded of their duty to be open and transparent at all 
times with patients and their relatives.

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board – Clinical treatment in hospital 
Case number 201603927 – Report issued in August 2017
Mr Y complained about the care his mother, Mrs X, received from Betsi Cadwaladr University Health 
Board (“the Health Board”). Mrs X was admitted to hospital in 2015. She was very ill and it had been 

5

Page 13



agreed between staff and the family that she was for supportive care only, i.e. palliative care, to improve 
comfort and quality of life. Mr Y complained that despite this, Mrs X was twice transferred to a different 
hospital for a CT scan.

On the second occasion, there was no bed available for Mrs X when she arrived. She sadly died on a 
trolley waiting for a bed. Mr Y also complained about the time taken by the Health Board to provide its 
complaint response and that the response was sent to the wrong address.

The Ombudsman upheld the complaints about clinical care. In light of the plan for supportive care, a 
CT scan would not have altered the approach to Mrs X’s care. Despite that, she was twice unnecessarily 
transferred many miles to another hospital for a CT scan which did not take place. The Health Board’s 
approach was detrimental to Mrs X’s well-being and the manner of her death. The Ombudsman concluded 
that Mrs X’s human rights were likely to have been compromised. Her dignity at the end of her life was 
not respected and she did not have sufficiently considerate care in her final days. The decisions to trans-
fer her for scans which would not have changed the approach to her care failed to take account of her 
needs as an individual.

They failed also to take account of Mrs X and her family’s wider needs as part of family life. The Ombuds-
man identified contributory factors including that there was no comprehensive assessment made of Mrs X 
at her initial admission to A&E, and she was not reviewed by a Consultant for 11 days as no leave cover 
was in place.

The Ombudsman found that the time taken to investigate and respond to Mr Y’s concern (17 months) 
was unacceptable. He upheld this complaint, although did not find that the response had been sent to the 
wrong address.

The Health Board accepted the conclusions of the report and agreed to implement the Ombudsman’s 
recommendations that it should:

a) Apologise to Mr Y for the shortcomings in Mrs X’s care

b) Provide financial redress to Mr Y of £1,000 in recognition of the distress caused by the failure to 
provide clear management of Mrs X’s care

c) Provide financial redress of £500 in recognition of the time taken to investigate his complaint

d) Refer the report to the Board, and to the Health Board’s Equalities and Human Rights team to 
identify how consideration of human rights can be further embedded into clinical practice

e) Remind medical staff on the wards where Mrs X received care of their professional obligations in 
terms of ethical and clinical management for end of life care in accordance with guidance issued 
by the General Medical Council

6

Page 14



7

f) Consider the need for clinicians involved in Mrs X’s care to undertake further training in end of life 
care as part of their continuing professional development

g) Carry out a clinical audit on the wards where Mrs X received care to consider consistency of medical 
management and decision making

h) Remind medical staff of the requirement to ensure adequate cover arrangements are put in place 
when taking leave.

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board – Clinical treatment in hospital 
Case number 201605326 – Report issued in September 2017
Ms C complained about the care her father, Mr D, received when he was admitted to Ysbyty Gwynedd. Ms C 
complained that Mr D’s cause of death had not been accurately recorded. Ms C also complained about the 
way her complaint was handled and the length of time taken to provide her with a response. 

The Ombudsman found that the care and treatment provided to Mr D was not of a reasonable standard. 
Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board (“the Health Board”) did not adequately monitor Mr D’s condition 
and missed a number of opportunities to escalate his care. Had Mr D’s care been appropriately escalated 
his death may have been avoided. 

The Ombudsman found that the form submitted to the Coroner by the Health Board did not accurately 
reflect the cause of Mr D’s death. 

The Ombudsman also found that the complaint was poorly handled, the amount of time taken to deal with 
the complaint was unreasonable and the final response did not contain the Serious Incident Report the 
Health Board had said it would provide. 

The Ombudsman upheld the complaint and recommended that the Health Board: 

a) Undertake a NEWS (National Early Warning Score) audit. This should include a minimum 10% dip 
sample of the NEWS recorded on the ward in the past three months. If members of staff involved 
in the recording of NEWS for Mr D are now working in a different area, the audit should also include 
a sample of their current practice. If anomalies are identified, an action plan should be prepared to 
put this right. 

b) Share this report with the nursing staff involved in this case. Those members of staff should be 
given training on NEWS and escalation procedures. 

c) Ensure that there is a robust handover system in place and that all acutely ill patients undergo a 
daily review by a registrar (or above), including on weekends and holidays. 

d) Share this report with the doctors involved in this case. The doctors should then review the report 
and medical notes with their appraiser to identify areas where practice could be improved.

e) Discuss this case with the Coroner and based on that discussion undertake an audit (minimum 10% 
dip sample) of coroner referral forms for the past three months. If inconsistencies or inaccuracies 
are identified, an action plan should be prepared to address them, this may include introducing a 
review system or additional training for doctors preparing the forms. 

Page 15



f) The Head of Corporate Governance should review the complaint handling in this case. The review 
should seek to identify what happened to the Serious Incident Report. 

g) Apologise to Ms C and her family for the failings identified in this report. A meeting with the Chief 
Executive or the Medical and Nursing Director should be offered to Ms C. 

h) Make a payment to Ms C of £10,000 in recognition of the distress and uncertainty caused by the 
clinical failings identified in this report. This payment is also in recognition of the time and trouble 
taken in pursuing this complaint, due to the complaint handling failings identified in this report.

UPHELD

Hywel Dda University Health Board – Clinical treatment in hospital
Case Number 201601916 - Report issued in July 2017
Ms X complained about the care and treatment provided to her late father, Mr Y, by Hywel Dda Univer-
sity Health Board (“the Health Board”) at Prince Phillip Hospital prior to his diagnosis of lung cancer.  Ms 
X complained about whether tests and investigations were carried out in a timely manner.  She said that 
she had to chase up appointments with consultants.  Ms X complained that Mr Y was not told that he 
had cancer until his last appointment at the Rapid Access Lung Clinic (“RALC”) on 10 April 2015. Ms X 
also complained about the time taken by the Health Board to respond to her complaint and the failure to 
respond to later correspondence.

The Ombudsman found that tests and investigations carried out in Mr Y’s case were reasonable and 
appropriate.  However, he said that they were not carried out in a timely manner and upheld the com-
plaint.  As there was evidence to suggest that Ms X did chase up appointments, the Ombudsman upheld 
the complaint.  The Ombudsman could not be sure from the medical records that it was made clear to Mr 
Y that there remained a possibility of cancer, despite negative test results.  He partially upheld the com-
plaint.  The Ombudsman upheld the complaint about complaints handling. 

The Ombudsman made recommendations including: 

a) an apology and payment to Ms X and the family

b) a review of the delays in reaching a diagnosis for Mr Y, and 

c) a reminder to relevant staff of the importance of fully recording discussions about diagnosis and 
prognosis

d) that the Health Board review the process of booking patients in to the RALC and consider formalis-
ing the process. 

The Health Board agreed to implement the recommendations.

8

Page 16



9

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board - Clinical treatment in hospital
Case Number 201603171 - Report issued in July 2017
Mrs A’s complaint centred around the management and care that Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board’s 
(“the Health Board”) Wrexham Maelor Hospital (“the Hospital”) provided to her late mother, Mrs B.  This 
followed a diagnosis of bladder cancer in 2014.  

The Ombudsman found instances of delay in Mrs B’s care, had not materially affected her outcome.  He 
concluded that her overall management and care had been reasonable and did not uphold these parts of 
Mrs A’s complaint. 

The Ombudsman found documented evidence of communication with Mrs B, her family and GP.  However, 
in the absence of any evidence that Mrs B had been allocated a Clinical Specialist Nurse (“CSN”) key worker 
he concluded that communication could have been more effective.  To that limited extent only he upheld 
this part of Mrs A’s complaint. 

Administratively, the Ombudsman found that whilst there was some minor omission around record keeping 
it was not sufficient to warrant upholding the complaint.  The Ombudsman did however find shortcomings 
around complaint handling and upheld this part of Mrs A’s complaint. 

The Ombudsman recommended that the Health Board:

a) apologise to Mrs A for the failings identified, and

b) if it had not already done so it should review the effectiveness and operation of its uro-oncology 
CSN structure.  

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board – Clinical treatment in hospital
Case Number 201603579 - Report issued in July 2017 
Mrs A complained about the care and treatment her late mother (“Mrs Y”) received while she was an inpa-
tient at Ysbyty Glan Clwyd (“the Hospital”).  Mrs A questioned the appropriateness of carrying out a proce-
dure to examine the pancreas and bile ducts by inserting a bendable-lighted tube (endoscope) given her 
mother’s poor health and curvature of the spine.  Mrs A questioned if the risks associated with her mother’s 
poor health were discussed during the consenting process.  Mrs A also remained unhappy with aspects of 
the nursing care her mother received following the procedure, which included the poor administration of 
pain relief and a failure to monitor nutrition.  Mrs A was unhappy with the Health Board’s handling of her 
complaint.

The Ombudsman’s investigation concluded that the care provided to Mrs Y was reasonable and appropriate 
and that had she been left untreated her condition would most likely have deteriorated.  This aspect of Mrs 
A’s complaint was not upheld.

The Ombudsman considered that there were some service failings in aspects of the consenting process and 
to a limited extent only upheld this part of Mrs A’s complaint. 

In relation to complaint handling, the Ombudsman concluded that whilst the complexity of Mrs Y’s case 
meant that some delay in Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board (“the Health Board”) providing a re-

Page 17



10

sponse was inevitable; in this instance the delay was excessive.  He upheld this part of Mrs A’s complaint.

The Ombudsman recommended that the Health Board apologise to Mrs A for the failings identified by the 
investigation and in recognition of the poor complaint handling make a payment to her of £250.

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board – Clinical treatment in hospital 
Case Number 201602007 - Report issued in July 2017 
Mrs A’s complaint concerned the care and management she received in 2013 at Ysbyty Gwynedd when she 
took the difficult decision to end her second pregnancy after being told that her baby had severe foetal ab-
normalities.  Mrs A complained that the medical and midwifery staff failed to give her information/support 
to make an informed decision about a medical termination and failed to provide her with post termination 
support.  Mrs A said that her medical records were altered following her complaint to the Health Board.  
Mrs A also complained about poor complaint handling.

The Ombudsman’s investigation concluded that the care and treatment provided to Mrs A was reasonable 
and appropriate.  He also found no evidence that Mrs A’s medical records were altered.  The Ombudsman 
did not uphold these aspects of Mrs A’s complaint.

The Ombudsman was however critical that there were significant delays in complaint handling.  He upheld 
this aspect of Mrs A’s complaint and recommended that the Health Board: 

a) apologise to Mrs A, and 

b) pay her a sum of £250 for poor complaint handling and the distress and inconvenience arising from 
this.

Cwm Taf University Health Board - Clinical treatment in hospital 
Case Number 201603811  - Report issued in July 2017
Mrs A complained about the management and care her father, Mr B aged 91, received while an inpatient 
at the Royal Glamorgan Hospital.  Sadly, he died a few days after admission.   In addition, Mrs A raised 
concerns about the lack of dignity shown to Mr B and the family, as the family were not present at the end 
of his life despite this being requested,  and the problems with the return of Mr B’s personal possessions, 
namely a slipper and towels, following his death.  Finally, Mrs A complained about the Health Board’s han-
dling of her complaint and especially the delays.  

Despite some clinical failings, the Ombudsman’s investigation concluded that broadly Mr B’s management 
and care was reasonable.  This part of Mrs A’s complaint was not upheld.  The Ombudsman was not able 
to reach a finding on some parts of Mrs A’s complaint, such as Mr B’s personal possessions or the way news 
of Mr B’s death was communicated to Mrs A and her family, and the issue of the family being contacted, 
if Mr B’s condition deteriorated, given this was not documented in the medical records.  The Ombudsman 
did uphold Mrs A’s concerns about Cwm Taf University Health Board’s (“the Health Board”) handling of her 
complaint.  

The Ombudsman recommended that:

a) the Health Board’s Chief Executive apologise to Mrs A for the failings identified and, 
Page 18



11

b) that the Health Board make a payment of £250 in recognition of the shortcomings in the way that it 
had handled Mrs A’s complaint.  

Cwm Taf University Health Board - Clinical treatment in hospital
Case Number 201303656 - Report issued in August 2017 
Mrs A complained about the care given to her late mother, Mrs B, at Prince Charles Hospital, by Cwm Taf 
University Health Board (“the Health Board”), during March 2013.  The clinical issues raised concerned 
heart-related medication, cardiology input, International Normalised Ratio (“INR”) monitoring, the man-
agement of breathing difficulties, catheter use, continence care, nutritional care and ward location.  The 
other matters complained about concerned Mrs A’s appointment with one staff member and the conduct of 
another.  Mrs A also expressed concern about the Health Board’s response to her complaint.

The Ombudsman did not uphold the medication, catheter, location and conduct-connected parts of Mrs A’s 
complaint.  He partly upheld its INR, continence care, nutritional care and complaint handling aspects.  He 
found that the Health Board’s monitoring of Mrs B’s INR was satisfactory.  However, he partly upheld this 
element of Mrs A’s complaint because he considered that the Health Board’s inappropriate prescription of 
clopidogrel1 was relevant to it.  He found that the Health Board’s assessment of Mrs B’s continence care 
needs was lacking and that it did not prepare a related care plan for her.  He also discovered that it did not 
nutritionally screen Mrs B, as required.  He found that the Health Board did not recognise, when respond-
ing to Mrs A’s complaint, any of the serious clinical failings that he had identified.  He fully upheld those 
parts of Mrs A’s complaint which concerned Mrs B’s cardiology input, her breathing difficulties and Mrs A’s 
appointment.  He considered that the Health Board took too long to provide cardiology input for Mrs B and 
that its response to her breathing difficulties was deficient.  He found that Mrs A’s staff member appoint-
ment was unreasonably delayed.  

The Ombudsman recommended that the Health Board should:

a) Write to Mrs A to acknowledge, and apologise for, the failings identified in his report.  

b) Pay Mrs A a nominal sum of £500 in recognition of the ongoing distress associated with the clinical 
failings identified.  

c) Pay Mrs A a nominal sum of £250 for the distress associated with her pursuing her complaint.

d) Develop a clinical review mechanism, which aims to ensure that junior doctors are not left with the 
sole responsibility of caring for acutely unwell patients for long periods.  

e) Formally investigate why staff members did not escalate the Health Board’s response to Mrs B’s dete-
riorating condition by involving senior colleagues.  

f) Develop an action plan, which aims to prevent a recurrence of the escalation failings identified, in 
response to the findings of its escalation investigation.  

g) Satisfy itself that it is able to provide appropriate clinical care for its acutely unwell inpatients at all 
times.

 

Page 19



12

h) Explain why it did not follow its own protocol when administering Mrs B’s warfarin.  

i) Formally remind all relevant nursing staff members that they must assess the continence care needs 
of all patients when they are admitted to hospital and that they should formulate a care plan to ad-
dress any needs identified.  

j) Formally remind all relevant nursing staff members that they must nutritionally screen all patients 
when they are admitted to hospital.  

k) Share this report with all the Consultants, Doctors and Nurses involved in Mrs B’s care during March 
2013.

The Health Board agreed to implement these recommendations.

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board - Clinical treatment in hospital
Case Number 201605528 – Report issued in August 2017
Ms X complained about the care she received in the Accident and Emergency Department (“A&E”) at Ysbyty 
Glan Clywd after falling from her horse. She complained that, due to inadequate examination and investi-
gation, a fracture to her spine was not diagnosed at her initial presentation. Ms X said that the fracture was 
only identified after she had returned to the Emergency Department two days later. Ms X said she suffered 
avoidable pain as a result of the failings. 

The Ombudsman found that Ms X had not been appropriately assessed. In particular, there had been a fail-
ure to consider the circumstances surrounding her fall when assessing her possible injuries. He also found 
that inadequate pain relief was provided following her initial visit. The Ombudsman therefore upheld the 
complaint and recommended that the Health Board should apologise to Ms X and remind A&E clinicians of 
the importance of considering the mechanism of injury when assessing trauma patients.

Aneurin Bevan University Health Board – Clinical treatment outside hospital 
Case Number 201504573 – Report issued in August 2017
Mr A, whose complex condition includes severe obsessive compulsive disorder (“OCD”), complained about 
the management and care he received from the Community Mental Health Team (“CMHT”) of Aneurin Bev-
an University Health Board (“the Health Board”). Mr A also raised concerns that his medical records had not 
been properly read leading to misunderstandings about his treatment and inappropriate medication being 
prescribed. He also referred to shortcomings in the Health Board’s response to his complaint.

The Ombudsman found the management and care that Mr A received from the CMHT was broadly reason-
able – though he identified shortcomings in the handover process, when Mr A was assigned a new Care 
Co-ordinator, and aspects of communication. To that limited extent this part of Mr A’s complaint was up-
held.

The Ombudsman made no finding on the issues that Mr A raised about his medical records.

Administratively, the Ombudsman identified that the Health Board’s complaint response could have been 
more robust and upheld this part of Mr A’s complaint.

The Ombudsman’s recommendations to the Health Board included apologising to Mr A, making a payment 

Page 20



13

of £500 and re-affirming to Mr A the offer to carry out a re-assessment of his needs.

A GP Practice in the area of Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board - Clinical treatment outside hospital
Case Number 201604084 – Report issued in August 2017
Mrs B complained about the standard of care provided to her two year old daughter, C, by her GP. In partic-
ular, she complained that the GP continued to prescribe antibiotics for a lump on C’s neck for a period of 
several months with no improvement, and without making a referral for specialist review. C subsequently 
underwent surgery to have the lump removed. 

The Ombudsman found that infected neck glands in young children were relatively common and it was 
reasonable for the GP to manage this in primary care with antibiotic treatment. The GP had also referred C 
for an initial paediatric review at the hospital. The situation did not improve after several months of treat-
ment and the abscess started to discharge. At this point, the Ombudsman found that the GP should have 
referred C for a specialist paediatric view. However, the GP continued to prescribe antibiotics for two further 
months before agreeing to refer C. This was not reasonable and a much earlier referral should have been 
made. At hospital, it was found that C had atypical non-tuberculous mycobacterial infection. 

The treatment options would not have been any different even if the earlier referral had happened; how-
ever, C had taken antibiotic medication for longer than was necessary. The Ombudsman upheld the com-
plaint. The GP Practice agreed to apologise in writing to Mrs B for not referring C earlier. 

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board - Clinical treatment outside hospital
Case Number 201603898 – Report issued in August 2017
Mr A complained about the standard of clinical care provided to his late wife, Mrs A, at Ysbyty Gwynedd. He 
was concerned that investigations to diagnose her bowel cancer, and consequently the start of her treat-
ment, had been delayed. 

The Ombudsman found that Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board (“the Health Board”) had properly 
prioritised Mrs A’s investigations. She was placed on the USC (urgent suspected cancer) list for both gynae-
cology and colorectal teams in July 2013. It was regrettable that she rescheduled several CT scan appoint-
ments as she was not well enough to attend. She was also seen by the consultant in August. However, a 
CT scan, from which the cancer was diagnosed, was not performed until she was admitted to hospital in 
September 2013. The Ombudsman was concerned that a patient who was on the USC list with two spe-
cialties was not chased up for outstanding investigations in the intervening period. There did not appear 
to have been communication between the two teams with the potential for patients to become ‘lost’ within 
the system when they required investigations under two or more specialties. 

The Ombudsman upheld the complaint. He recommended that the Health Board should provide a written 
apology to Mr A, and should review the operation of its pathway to track USC referrals that may potentially 
fall under the care of two specialties.

Page 21



14

A GP Practice in the area of Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board - Clinical treatment outside hospital 
Case Number 201604084 – Report issued in August 2017
Mrs B complained about the standard of care provided to her two year old daughter, C, by her GP. In partic-
ular, she complained that the GP continued to prescribe antibiotics for a lump on C’s neck for a period of 
several months with no improvement, and without making a referral for specialist review. C subsequently 
underwent surgery to have the lump removed. 

The Ombudsman found that infected neck glands in young children were relatively common and it was 
reasonable for the GP to manage this in primary care with antibiotic treatment. The GP had also referred C 
for an initial paediatric review at the hospital. The situation did not improve after several months of treat-
ment and the abscess started to discharge. At this point, the Ombudsman found that the GP should have 
referred C for a specialist paediatric view. However, the GP continued to prescribe antibiotics for two further 
months before agreeing to refer C. This was not reasonable and a much earlier referral should have been 
made. At hospital, it was found that C had atypical non-tuberculous mycobacterial infection. The treatment 
options would not have been any different even if the earlier referral had happened; however, C had taken 
antibiotic medication for longer than was necessary. 

The Ombudsman upheld the complaint. The GP Practice agreed to apologise in writing to Mrs B for not 
referring C earlier.

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board – Clinical treatment in hospital 
Case Number: 201603674 – Report issued in August 2017
Mr A complained about the standard of care and treatment provided to his late wife. Mrs A had neuroendo-
crine tumours (“NETs”). Mr A was particularly concerned that there were inconsistencies in the care provid-
ed, delays in implementing somatostatin analogue therapy and that Mrs A was not referred to a specialist 
NET centre in England. 

In considering the complaint, the Ombudsman noted that the state of knowledge about the treatment of 
NETs had progressed since Mrs A was receiving treatment. The Ombudsman upheld the complaint about 
potential inconsistencies in care to the extent that communication about Mrs A’s care within the clinical 
team and with Mr and Mrs A could have been better. He did not uphold the complaint about delay in imple-
menting somatostatin analogue therapy, as whilst this could have been started sooner, it was sadly unlikely 
in the particular circumstances to have prevented Mrs A’s disease progressing. Finally, the Ombudsman up-
held the complaint about the referral to a different hospital to the extent that there was a reporting error in 
a CT scan which, if it had not happened, may have prompted an earlier discussion about Mrs A’s suitability 
for a trial of a particular treatment at the other hospital. 

The Ombudsman recommended that Cardiff and Vale University Health Board: 

a) apologise to Mr A for failings identified

b) review why there was a reporting error in the CT scan, and 

c) review the adequacy of communications within its NETs service.

Page 22



15

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board – Medical records / standards of record keeping
Case Number 201604214 – Report issued in August 2017
Mrs A’s complaint concerned the care her mother, Mrs R, received while an inpatient at the University 
Hospital Llandough (“the Hospital”). Mrs A’s concerns included nursing staff not providing encouragement 
or assistance to her mother to enable her to eat her meals. She also questioned whether her mother’s 
food intake records had been ‘falsified’. In addition, she complained that her mother had developed a rash 
because her continence pads were not changed frequently. 

The Ombudsman’s investigation concluded that aspects of Mrs R’s nursing care were broadly reasonable 
and tailored to her needs. However, he identified instances where Mrs R’s care fell below reasonable stan-
dards, for example, the delay in providing Mrs R with a pressure relieving mattress. The Ombudsman 
upheld Mrs A’s complaint to a limited extent. 

Administratively, the Ombudsman was concerned that inadequate record keeping meant that it was not 
always possible to comment on the quality of nursing care delivered to Mrs R. To that extent he upheld this 
aspect Mrs A’s complaint. 

The Ombudsman recommended that Cardiff and Vale University Health Board:

a) provide a written apology to Mrs A for the failings the investigation had identified

b) make a payment of £350 to her in recognition of the distress caused to her as a result of poor re-
cord keeping, and

c) provide details of the measures it had put in place to address the failings.

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board - Clinical treatment in hospital
Case Number 201606212 – Report issued in August 2017
Mrs A complained to the Ombudsman about the manner in which Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 
(“the Health Board”) had failed to give her a follow up appointment to monitor her deteriorating eye condi-
tion in a timely manner.  Instead of being given a follow-up appointment within six months as stipulated by 
her clinicians, Mrs A was not reviewed for 13 months, despite Mrs A requesting an urgent appointment.  By 
the time Mrs A was seen in the ophthalmology clinic, the vision in her right eye had been irreparably lost 
(although it was recognised that this would eventually be the outcome).  Mrs A argued that if she had been 
seen earlier then the damage to her eye could have been treated thereby preventing the rapid deteriora-
tion of her right eye.

The Ombudsman found that the Health Board had failed to provide Mrs A with an adequate level of service 
and that if she had been reviewed appropriately there was a much greater likelihood that she would have 
received more timely treatment. Such treatment could potentially have slowed the deterioration of her 
condition. 

The Ombudsman upheld the complaint and recommended that the Health Board:

a) apologise to Mrs A and provide her with redress of £2,000 for the possibility that if she had been 
reviewed earlier she would have retained the vision in her right eye for longer, and

b) put measures in place to ensure that when patients such as Mrs A requiring urgent intervention 
approach the Health Board, they are seen within 24 hours

Page 23



16

Aneurin Bevan University Health Board - Clinical treatment in hospital
Case Number 201604112 – Report issued in August 2017
Mrs T complained about the care and treatment her late father-in-law, Mr X, received at Nevill Hall Hospi-
tal(“the Hospital”).  In particular, Mrs T was concerned that Mr X was not well enough to have been dis-
charged on 4 March 2016 and that the care and treatment provided upon his readmission on 6 March was 
not appropriate.  

The Ombudsman found that it was clinically reasonable for Mr X to have been discharged from the Hospital 
on 4 March and did not uphold this element of the complaint.  

In considering Mrs T’s concern about the treatment provided to Mr X upon his re-admission, the Ombuds-
man found that there were delays in diagnosing and treating Mr X for sepsis.  The Ombudsman was of the 
view that Mr X’s clinical deterioration was not recognised in time and appropriate action was not taken.  An-
eurin Bevan University Health Board (“the Health Board”) had a policy in place to deal with the escalation 
of deteriorating patients, but the Ombudsman found that this policy had not been followed.  This element 
of Mrs T’s complaint was upheld.  

It was recommended that the Health Board: 

a) provide a written apology to Mrs T and her family for the failings identified in this report.

b) pay Mrs T on behalf of the family £500 to reflect the uncertainty of not knowing whether, if treat-
ment had been initiated sooner on 6 March, and a referral to the ITU made during the morning of 
7 March, the outcome may have been different.

c) raise awareness of the Deteriorating Patient Policy amongst the staff nurse and clinical staff con-
cerned at the ED.

d) reviews the management of sepsis at the Hospital’s ED and takes action to remind staff of the 
need to follow guidelines.  

The Health Board agreed to implement these recommendations.

Cwm Taf University Health Board - Clinical treatment in hospital
Case Number 201604041 - Report issued in September 2017
Ms X complained about the poor management of her ectopic pregnancy at the Royal Glamorgan Hospi-
tal (“the Hospital”) and, specifically, delay in diagnosing and addressing that issue.  She was aggrieved 
that the delay led to a ruptured fallopian tube and an inability to conceive naturally (because this was the 
second time she suffered this particular event).  She also complained that the pain she was suffering from 
was not managed adequately.  She said that, on one occasion, she was left for almost two hours bleeding 
heavily and screaming in pain in a store room and that she was refused pain relief.  

The investigation found that the management of Ms X’s condition had generally been reasonable and ap-
propriate.  However, clinicians failed to offer Ms X the option of surgical intervention to address the ectopic 
pregnancy.  The complaint was, therefore, upheld to that limited extent.  The investigation found that Ms 
X’s pain had not been managed properly on the occasion referred to above for approximately an hour and 
a half.  That complaint was also upheld. 

Page 24



17

Cwm Taf University Health Board agreed to: 

a) apologise to Ms X for the failings found by the investigation

b) to offer a payment of £150 for the unmanaged pain, and 

c) to share the findings of the report with relevant staff. 

Hywel Dda University Health Board - Clinical treatment in hospital
Case Number 201604278 - Report issued in September 2017 
Mr Y complained about the failure to promptly diagnose and treat the sepsis from which he suffered during 
an admission to Withybush General Hospital.  Mr Y also complained about a delay in diagnosing a tear in 
his oesophagus.  Finally, Mr Y complained about the way in which the Health Board had handled and re-
sponded to his formal complaint.

The Ombudsman concluded that, whilst there were some failings in respect of the monitoring of Mr Y’s 
condition during his admission, the treatment overall was adequate.  The Ombudsman also found that 
the oesophageal tear was a rare condition, the diagnosis of which was not unreasonably delayed.  The 
Ombudsman was, however, critical of Hywel Dda University Health Board’s complaint handling and recom-
mended that they: 

a) make an apology

b) and pay Mr Y £500 financial redress, in recognition of the time and trouble to which he had been 
put in pursuing his complaint.

Cwm Taf University Health Board - Clinical treatment outside hospital
Case Number 201602370 - Report issued in September 2017
Mr H complained about a failure to maintain or improve his mother, Mrs B’s, mobility during her care and 
that investigations for urine infections were unnecessary and distressing.  Mr H also raised dignity and 
autonomy concerns relating to her capacity, cognition, deprivation of liberty safeguards, Mrs B’s wishes 
to be discharged and being strapped to a trolley during an appointment.  Additionally, Mr H complained 
about Cwm Taf University Health Board’s (“the Health Board”) communication with Mrs B and the family 
about her care and subsequently that it had failed to notify him of her death.  Mr H later complained to the 
Health Board, but was unhappy with its delay in responding. 

The investigation found that the care given to Mrs B was reasonable and appropriate steps were taken to 
address her mobility.  The investigation also found that urine investigations were necessary and did not dis-
tress her.  There were no shortcomings in Mrs B’s care in relation to dignity and autonomy concerns.  These 
complaints were not upheld.   

Mr H’s concern about complaint handling was upheld because of the time and trouble that he encountered 
in pursing the complaint.  The Health Board mistakenly told Mr H it could not reply because prior to Mrs B’s 
death she had not consented to him raising a complaint.  The Ombudsman recommended: 

a) an apology

Page 25



18

b) nominal financial redress in recognition of the delay; and 

c) internal procedural review.  

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board – Clinical treatment in hospital 
Case Number 201604109 - Report issued in September 2017 
Dr X complained that his late brother Mr Y’s urgent GP referral to the rapid access chest pain clinic 
(“RACPC”) at Ysbyty Gwynedd was not acted upon in a timely manner on 10 July 2016.  Mr Y received a 
letter inviting him to make an appointment with the RACPC on 21 July.  Sadly Mr Y died on 20 July, his 
cause of death was due to ischaemic heart disease.

The Ombudsman found that Mr Y should have been triaged earlier than seven days after the GP’s urgent 
referral and despite the Consultant identifying Mr Y’s abnormal ECG reading and suggesting that the GP 
should have referred Mr Y as an emergency, a letter to arrange an appointment was only sent 12 days after 
referral.  The Ombudsman also found that it was unacceptable that Dr X waited four months for a mean-
ingful response from the Health Board.  The Health Board agreed to implement the Ombudsman’s recom-
mendations to:

a) apologise to Dr X and Ms Y (Mr Y’s partner) that Mr Y was not triaged within 24 hours and it had 
not responded to Dr X’s email in a timely manner

b) review the percentage of RACPC referrals not triaged within 24 hours or the next working day, 
whether there needs to be a modification of job plans or the numbers of cardiologists to deliver 
RACPC in a timely manner; and 

c) consider whether it should develop a protocol for GP referrals to RACPC.

A GP Practice within the area of Betsi Cadwladr University Health Board - Clinical treatment outside hospital 
Case Number 201604107 - Report issued in September 2017
Dr X complained about the treatment his late brother Mr Y received from his GP at three appointments 
between 11 June and 10 July 2015.  On 20 July, Mr Y died from ischaemic heart disease.  Dr X said that 
the GP failed to take a proper history from Mr Y and had he been referred to cardiology earlier he may not 
have died.

The Ombudsman found that the GP’s note keeping fell below a reasonable standard, as such he could not 
conclude whether Mr Y’s symptoms were angina or that he should have had an earlier cardiology referral.  
The Ombudsman found that at Mr Y’s 10 July appointment, the GP failed to identify an abnormal ECG and 
prescribe additional anti angina medication.  The Practice agreed to implement the Ombudsman’s recom-
mendations to: 

a) apologise for the failings to Dr X and Ms Y (Mr Y’s widow)

b) make a redress payment to Ms Y of £1000

c) confirm it has a protocol to consistently record medical information

d) consider a system for health care professional to interpret ECG results, undertakes Information 

Page 26



Governance training

e) hold a staff meeting to reflect upon the final report; and 

f) that the GP revise the assessment, diagnosis and management of angina, read the NICE guide-
lines and has training to improve her record keeping.

A Dental Practice in the Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board area – Clinical treatment outside hospital 
Case Number 201600835 - Report issued in September 2017 
Mrs X complained to the Ombudsman that in September 2015 she attended the Practice with a cracked 
tooth.  An X-ray was taken and the Dentist noted a large filling and radiolucency (shadow) around the 
end of the root.  Mrs X underwent treatment, including antibiotics, until December when the tooth frac-
tured and was extracted.  Mrs X also complained about the Practice’s handling of the complaint about her 
treatment.

The Ombudsman could not conclude that an abscess was present at Mrs X’s first appointment or that 
there should have been root canal treatment.  The Ombudsman found that the Dentist had not recorded 
her interpretation of the radiolucency or her intended action in relation to it; this was an injustice to Mrs 
X.  The Ombudsman also found that the Practice had inappropriately absolved itself of responsibility for 
the complaint and had directed Mrs X to the Dentist, even after the Dentist had left the practice.  The 
Practice agreed to implement the Ombudsman’s recommendations to: 

a) apologise to Mrs X for the identified failings

b) reimburse £185

c) make a redress payment of £300 as the dentist had not recorded her interpretation of the radiolu-
cency and insufficient action was taken to determine its state; and

d) make a redress payment of £100 for the fact that Mrs X’s complaint was not thoroughly investigat-
ed.

NOT UPHELD

Aneurin Bevan University Health Board - Clinical treatment in hospital 
Case Number 201605053 - Report issued in July 2017
Mr B complained about care he received as an inpatient at a Mental Health Unit.  He said he had been 
prescribed medication which he was allergic to, that leave had been withdrawn, Aneurin Bevan Univer-
sity Health Board had refused to change the doctors in charge of his care and he had been subjected to 
unnecessary searches. 

The complaints were not upheld.  The investigation found that there was no evidence to suggest that Mr 
B had an allergic reaction to the medication and that he had been appropriately monitored.  It found that 
leave had been appropriately reviewed and authorised and where there had been issues facilitating leave, 
these had been addressed.  The investigation also found that the decision not to change Mr B’s doctors 
was reasonable and appropriate in the circumstances and that when Mr B refused to submit to a search 
this issue had not been pressed. 

19

Page 27



20

Cwm Taf University Health Board - Clinical treatment in hospital 
Case Number 201605732 - Report issued in July 2017
Mr X complained that when he attended the Emergency Department of the Royal Glamorgan Hospital 
following an accident on 17 June 2016, staff failed to identify that he had a number of broken ribs and a 
pneumothorax.  When he re-attended on 19 June, an X-ray was performed and these injuries were identi-
fied.  Mr X was subsequently managed conservatively with pain relief and no surgical intervention was re-
quired.  When Mr X complained to Cwm Taf University Health Board (“the Health Board”) about the failure 
to identify the pneumothorax and broken ribs, it acknowledged that Mr X should have received an X-ray 
and been monitored on 17 June.  The Health Board were clear however, that the treatment that would 
have been provided on 17 June, had the X-ray been taken then, would not have differed from the conser-
vative treatment he received following his second attendance.  Mr X was dissatisfied with this explanation 
and complained to the Ombudsman that the failure to perform the X-ray on 17 June, to identify the pneu-
mothorax and broken ribs, had caused him harm.

The Ombudsman agreed with the Health Board that Mr X should have received an X-ray on 17 June and 
that if this had happened his injuries would have been identified.  The Ombudsman also agreed that it 
would have been appropriate to manage Mr X’s condition conservatively with monitoring and pain relief.  
The conservative management Mr X subsequently received on his admission on 19 June reflected this 
approach.  Accordingly the Ombudsman found that there was no injustice to Mr X as a result of the Health 
Board’s failure to identify the broken ribs and pneumothorax and did not uphold the complaint.

A Dental Practice in the area of Hywel Dda University Health Board

Mrs A complained about the care and treatment she received from the Dental Practice.  Specifically, Mrs A 
said that, during an appointment on 22 July 2016, the Dentist failed to identify and treat an abscess in her 
gum, leaving her in pain and resulting in subsequent hospital treatment.

The investigation found that Mrs A’s treatment plan was reasonable in the circumstances and, given the 
absence of infection at that time, it had been reasonable not to prescribe antibiotics.  

Hywel Dda University Health Board and an Independent Provider contracted by Hywel Dda Health Board
Case Number 201606182 / 201505518 - Report issued in July 2017
Mrs T complained to the Ombudsman about the care and treatment that her granddaughter, Ms G, received 
at an Independent Provider contracted by Hywel Dda University Health Board (“the Health Board”) (a low 
secure, adult psychiatric hospital in Wales).  Mrs T also complained that the Health Board transferred Ms G 
to a medium secure unit in England against the wishes of the family and against the advice of senior clini-
cians.  Specifically, Mrs T complained that:

•	 Ms G’s condition of anorexia nervosa was not adequately managed by clinicians at the Hospital.

•	 For more than a year Ms G lived in isolation in a sparse environment and was subject to a range of 
punitive restrictions on movement and activity.

•	 Ms G was deprived of her belongings and a number of her possessions were lost during her stay at 
the Hospital.

•	 The family was excluded from any meaningful participation in Ms G’s care and their views about her 

Page 28



21

care were dismissed and even resented by clinicians.

•	 Ms G’s medication regime was poorly managed. 

The Ombudsman did not uphold Mrs T’s complaints.  He concluded that the approach to Ms G’s care and 
the restrictions and controls placed on her environment were appropriate to the severity of her condition 
and to the risks she posed to herself and others.  He was unable to identify any evidence that the family 
was excluded from participating in Ms G’s care or that her medication regime was poorly managed.  Finally, 
he concluded that, given all of the circumstances, the Health Board’s decision to transfer Ms G to a medium 
secure unit in England was reasonable.

Hywel Dda University Health Board – Clinical treatment in hospital
Case Number 201604061 - Report issued in July 2017 
Ms X complained that Cwm Taf University Health Board failed to perform her knee replacement surgery ap-
propriately.  Ms X said that the surgeon had incorrectly cut through her muscle during surgery and conse-
quently she experienced an extended period of pain and post operative knee problems. 

The investigation found that Ms X’s surgery was performed appropriately.  There was no evidence to sug-
gest that her muscle was incorrectly or accidently cut because a knee brace would have been required 
straight away, which was not part of Ms X immediate post operative care plan.  The investigation also 
found that unfortunately continuing significant symptoms are not uncommon and in this case was not sug-
gestive of poor care.  The Ombudsman did not uphold the complaint. 

Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health Board – Clinical treatment outside hospital
Case Number 201602270 - Report issued in July 2017 
Ms A complained about the poor care provided to Mrs B by Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health 
Board’s (“the Health Board”) Rapid Access Clinic for Eyes (“RACE”).  She specifically complained that the 
Health Board failed to properly record Mrs B’s allergic reaction to eye drops instilled on 23 June 2015, and 
as a result Mrs B had the same drops instilled on 5 August which resulted in a further allergic reaction.  Ms 
A complained that Mrs B’s allergic reactions caused her to develop photophobia and dry eyes and she con-
sidered this led to Mrs B’s premature death because she fell four days later, and died from the head injury 
sustained by that fall.  Also Ms A complained that Mrs B was given insufficient eye medication (sample 
bottles) to treat her eye condition.  

Ms A’s complaints were not upheld.  The investigation found that the eye drops administered on 23 June 
and 5 August for pupil dilation were appropriate.  Mrs B’s reaction after the drops used in June was record-
ed by the Health Board at her next appointment in August.  Mrs B received appropriate treatment following 
her reaction in August and when reviewed a week later it was noted that Mrs B’s eyes had improved fol-
lowing the treatment.  Mrs B’s photophobia documented on two occasions in September was most likely to 
have resulted from her other subsequent diagnosed eye conditions.  In relation to the insufficient eye med-
ication complaint, it was not possible to reach a definitive view as the investigation was almost two years 
after the event.  Whilst both the Health Board’s and Ms A’s comments were duly considered, the Ombuds-
man considered the Health Board had taken appropriate actions, following Ms A’s complaint, to address any 
potential concerns in this regard.

Page 29



22

Cwm Taf University Health Board – Clinical treatment in hospital
Case Number 201605144 - Report issued in July 2017 
Mr D complained about the standard of care provided to his late wife, Mrs D, at Prince Charles Hospital.  
His complaints were that: 

a) Rivaroxaban (an anti-coagulant medication) was stopped after six months treatment without further 
assessment or re-scanning.  Mrs D suffered a stroke several weeks later;

b) There was insufficient investigation into the cause of the discolouration of Mrs D’s hand; 

c) Mrs D was discharged from hospital when she was clearly very unwell and when clinicians still had not 
reached a diagnosis concerning the discoloration of her hand. 

The Ombudsman found that the treatment provided to Mrs D was appropriate and in line with current prac-
tice guidelines.  There was no indication for re-scanning Mrs D after stopping Rivaroxaban medication.  The 
investigations done into the discolouration of Mrs D’s hand and the decision to discharge her from hospital 
were both reasonable.  The Ombudsman did not uphold the complaint. 

Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health Board - Clinical treatment in hospital
Case Number 201604370 – Report issued in August 2017
Ms X complained about the treatment provided to her late mother, Mrs A at the Princess of Wales Hospital 
following her admission in December 2015 after she suffered a stroke.  In particular, Ms X complained that 
it was inappropriate for the anticoagulant drug Apixaban to have been administered to Mrs A and that there 
was an unreasonable delay in her receiving treatment after she suffered a brain haemorrhage.  Ms X also 
complained that Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health Board (“the Health Board”) failed to respond 
to a letter of complaint of 5 May 2016 in respect of missing observations charts.

The Ombudsman found that there was no evidence to suggest that it was inappropriate for Mrs A to have 
received the anticoagulant drug Apixaban.  He considered that the treatment provided following Mrs A’s 
brain haemorrhage was timely and appropriate.  Finally, the Ombudsman found that it was unclear whether 
the Health Board had received a letter of complaint of 5 May 2016 in respect of missing observation charts; 
however there was evidence of correspondence to Ms X in which the Health Board acknowledged that it 
was unacceptable that they were missing, and offered a sincere apology for this.  The Ombudsman did not 
uphold any aspects of the complaint.  

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board - Clinical treatment in hospital
Case Number 201603825 – Report issued in August 2017
Mr D complained to the Ombudsman that Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board (“the Health Board”) 
had failed to identify, despite having performed an ultrasound scan, that his wife (“Mrs D”) had a large fi-
broid mass when she attended Ysbyty Glan Clwyd (“the Hospital”).  He was aggrieved that when Mrs D had 
been discharged, the doctor had failed to note in his discharge note that she was anaemic.  It was a few 
days later that Mrs D, following a private consultation and investigations abroad, found out that she had 
an abdominal mass which turned out, upon being operated upon a few months later  to be a fibroid lesion 
that had died.  Mr D considered that if the scan that was performed in the Hospital had identified the lesion 
and his wife’s blood test result had been identified correctly, the subsequent management of her treatment 

Page 30



23

would have been more timely.

The Ombudsman found that while the scan had failed to identify the fibroid, this was a common shortcom-
ing of this particular procedure, which did result in certain gynaecological features being missed.  There-
fore, the Ombudsman concluded that this did not amount to a service failure.  The Ombudsman also found 
that, while the discharging doctor did not include the correct information about Mrs D’s anaemia within the 
discharge note, this did not result in an injustice to Mrs D since she was given appropriate medication to 
treat the anaemia when she was discharged.  Accordingly, the complaints were not upheld.

Cwm Taf University Health Board - Clinical treatment in hospital
Case Number 201606532 – Report issued in August 2017
Mr B complained about the care his wife received at Prince Charles Hospital during labour.  He complained 
that there was an unnecessary delay in inducing labour, followed by a failure to properly monitor, interpret 
and react to his unborn child’s heartbeat.  Mr B said that these failures resulted in his daughter suffering 
cardiac problems soon after birth.

The Ombudsman found that there was no adverse clinical significance to the delay in inducing labour, ad-
equate monitoring was carried out and appropriate clinical reviews and tests were undertaken.  The Om-
budsman concluded that there was no evidence to suggest that the problems Mr B’s daughter experienced 
were due to any shortcomings in the care provided during labour.  The Ombudsman did not uphold the 
complaint.

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board - Clinical treatment in hospital
Case Number 201606156 – Report issued in August 2017
Mr B complained about the decision to discharge him from the Emergency Department of the University 
Hospital of Wales following a seizure earlier the same day.  He complained that the discharge was prema-
ture and did not properly take into account his head injury and family history.  Mr B also complained that a 
shoulder injury was missed and he was not given anti-seizure medication prior to discharge.  Mr B suffered 
a further seizure on his journey home from the hospital.   

The Ombudsman found that Mr B was appropriately examined and treated and that his discharge was ap-
propriate.  He concluded that all relevant factors were considered in reaching the decision to discharge and 
that it would not have been appropriate to prescribe anti-seizure medication before a definitive diagnosis 
had been reached following further outpatient investigations.  The Ombudsman said that the presence of 
the shoulder abnormality on the X-ray was subtle and easily missed until reviewed by a specialist consul-
tant.  The Ombudsman did not uphold the complaint

Aneurin Bevan University Health Board - Clinical treatment in hospital
Case Number 201604020 – Report issued in August 2017
Ms E complained that adjustments had not been made when a gynaecological procedure was carried out 
at Nevill Hall Hospital.  Ms E said that she had provided relevant information to the referring clinician.  As a 
result, Ms E had concerns about the consenting process.  

As the Ombudsman found no service failings this part of Ms E’s complaint was not upheld.  He also found 

Page 31



24

no grounds to question the validity of the consent obtained from Ms E and again did not uphold this aspect 
of her complaint.

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board - Clinical treatment outside hospital 
Case Number 201603289 – Report issued in August 2017
Ms X complained about the care she received from Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

(“the Health Board”) during her pregnancy, which, very sadly, resulted in Ms X’s son, Y, being stillborn. She 
also complained about the failure of the Health Board to provide her with counselling following this, and 
about the Health Board’s response to her complaint. 

The Ombudsman found that Ms X’s care throughout her pregnancy was generally reasonable, with appro-
priate monitoring and involvement of the Consultant and other members of the team. Any shortcomings 
identified did not impact on Ms X’s care. Y’s death could not reasonably have been predicted, and the 
Ombudsman did not uphold the complaint. He urged the Health Board to be more careful to ensure the 
accuracy of complaint responses in future, and suggested that the Health Board, even at this late stage, 
arrange counselling for Ms X if she wished it. The Health Board agreed to meet Ms X to discuss making a 
referral for counselling for her.

Velindre NHS Trust - Clinical treatment outside hospital 
Case Number 201605282 – Report issued in September 2017
Dr D complained that there was a delay in diagnosing her late father’s metastatic spinal cord compression 
(“MSCC”), a relatively rare complication which can occur in patients with cancer which has spread to the 
bones in their spine.  If not treated, it can cause permanent paralysis.  She complained that Velindre NHS 
Trust (“the Trust”) should have acted more quickly when Mr D began complaining of back pain in January 
2015.  She also complained that the Trust should have explained to Mr D and his family about the potential 
for him to develop MSCC, so they could have been alert to the potential symptoms.

The Ombudsman found that, on balance, it was more likely than not that Mr D was not given information 
about MSCC when he was told the cancer had spread to his spine.  However, this did not affect the out-
come as in the event Mr D’s paralysis was not due to any delay in MSCC being diagnosed.  He therefore did 
not uphold this part of the complaint.  The Ombudsman also did not uphold the complaint that the Trust 
should have acted more quickly when Mr D complained of back pain.  When Mr D rang its advice line, he 
was appropriately referred to his GP in line with standard practice.

Aneurin Bevan University Health Board - Clinical treatment in hospital
Case Number 201605059 - Report issued in September 2017 
Mr X raised concerns that a wound on his five month old grandson’s (“B’s”) neck was not thoroughly 
checked when he was taken to hospital on 11 March 2015.  When they returned to the hospital on 15 
March, the wound was infected, which caused B to require surgery to treat the infection.  

The Ombudsman found that the clinical assessment of B on 11 March was reasonable and there was no ev-
idence to indicate that an infection was present during this attendance or that antibiotics should have been 

Page 32



25

prescribed.  The Ombudsman did not uphold the complaint. 

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board - Other
Case Number 201605583 - Report issued in September 2017 
Mr A complained about the treatment he received following his diagnosis of Multiple Sclerosis ((“MS”) a 
neurological lifelong condition that affects the nerves in the brain and spinal cord).  Mr A said that he was 
denied timely and effective treatment to control the symptoms and progression of MS.  Mr A also raised 
concerns that he had been denied access to alternative therapy that may have improved his quality of life. 

The Ombudsman found that Mr A received treatment relevant to his presenting symptoms and that the 
management of his condition was entirely appropriate.   There were no failings in the timeliness, manage-
ment or treatment of Mr A’s condition.  The Ombudsman did not identify evidence of any additional treat-
ment that could have been provided to Mr A as there are no alternative therapy treatments licensed for 
progressive MS, either primary or progressive. Consequently the complaints were not upheld.  

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board - Other 
Case Number 201604252  - Report issued in September 2017
Mrs X complained that Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board (“the Health Board”) failed to treat her 
mother, Mrs Y, within the Welsh Government’s referral to treatment time (“RTT”) target for NHS organisa-
tions in Wales.

The investigation found that, although the time that Mrs Y had been waiting for her operation had exceed-
ed the Welsh Government’s RTT target, there was no evidence that this could be attributed to mismanage-
ment of the waiting list by the Health Board.  There was no evidence to suggest that Mrs Y met the Health 
Board’s criteria for expedited treatment and no indication of a clinical need, which would justify expediting 
her treatment ahead of others. 

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board - Clinical treatment in hospital
Case Number 201606340 - Report issued in September 2017
Mr X complained about the care he received during an appointment at the University Hospital of Wales in 
February 2016. He complained that a Consultant failed to correctly diagnose the cause of his persistent 
hoarse voice which he said was subsequently diagnosed and successfully treated following a private consul-
tation. 

The Ombudsman found that the care at the appointment did not fall below an acceptable standard. He did 
not uphold the complaint. 

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board - Clinical treatment outside hospital 
Case Number 201600691 - Report issued in September 2017
Mr A complained that Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board (“the Health Board”) had failed to adequate-
ly investigate and treat his daughter’s gait problem from January 2015 onwards.  

The Ombudsman found that there was evidence that appropriate investigations had been carried out into 
Miss A’s gait problem and, where necessary, appropriate actions taken in response.  He did not uphold the 

Page 33



26

complaint.

A GP Practice in the Aneurin Bevan University Health Board area – Clinical treatment outside hospital
Case Number 201605281 - Report issued in September 2017 
Dr D complained that there was a delay in diagnosing her late father’s metastatic spinal cord compression 
(“MSCC”), a relatively rare complication which can occur in patients with cancer which has spread to the 
bones in their spine.  If not treated, it can cause permanent paralysis.  Dr D complained that Mr D’s GP 
Practice should have acted more quickly when he began complaining of back pain in January 2015.

Mr D attended the Practice on three occasions in January 2015.  The Ombudsman found that whilst in 
hindsight it was possible that Mr D was displaying early symptoms of MSCC at these consultations, he also 
had other symptoms which suggested alternative, more likely, diagnoses.  The symptoms at each consul-
tation did not clearly suggest MSCC, and the Ombudsman concluded that the GPs’ actions were in line with 
reasonable clinical practice.  He did not uphold the complaint.  The Ombudsman did note, however, that 
there was a learning point from the case, in relation to the need to adequately discuss the symptoms of 
MSCC with patients who are at risk of developing it and, where appropriate, their families.

EARLY RESOLUTION

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board – Clinical treatment outside hospital
Case Number 201701455 - Report issued in July 2017 
Mr B complained that he waited an excessive amount of time to be seen by a dermatologist following refer-
ral by his GP for suspected skin cancer.  The dermatologist failed to biopsy the lesion and categorised him 
as a routine case.  Mr B said he should have been categorised as urgent and should not have waited 20 
months from referral to treatment.

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board (“the Health Board”) said it acknowledged that there had been a 
breach of duty of care relating to Mr B’s wait for surgery; it agreed to instruct an Independent Expert to ad-
vise whether any harm could have been avoided, had there not been a delay in undertaking Mr B’s surgery.  
The Health Board agreed to conclude this matter and respond to Mr B within three months.  The Ombuds-
man was satisfied that this action would resolve the complaint.

Aneurin Bevan University Health Board – Clinical treatment in hospital
Case Number 201701103 - Report issued in July 2017
Mrs X complained about the care and treatment provided to her husband Mr X when he was admitted to 
hospital in November 2016.  She complained that the Hospital failed to administer prescribed medication 
and, when he was discharged, he was issued with a large amount of incorrect medication. 

Mrs X felt Aneurin Bevan University Health Board (“the Health Board”) had not understood her concerns.  
She was also concerned that she had not received the outcome of an investigation into the issuing of the 
incorrect medication.   Mrs X said that she felt she could no longer trust the Hospital to care for her hus-
band.  

The Health Board agreed to arrange for Mrs X to meet with relevant staff to discuss her complaint, as well 

Page 34



27

as the outcome of the pharmacy investigation into the issuing of the incorrect medication to Mr X.  The 
Ombudsman was satisfied that this was reasonable action which would settle the complaint. 

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board – Continuing Care
Case Number 201700901 - Report issued in July 2017
Ms A complained that Cardiff and Vale University Health Board (“the Health Board”) had failed to respond 
to her letter of January 2017, in which she had raised concerns about an outstanding assessment for NHS 
continuing health care funding.  She also presented new concerns relating to the assessment and care plan 
that the Health Board had not yet had the opportunity to consider.

The Ombudsman noted that there had been a delay in responding to the complainant.  Whilst normally the 
Ombudsman would expect the Health Board to have been given the opportunity to deal with the new con-
cerns before coming to him, in light of the delay already experienced with the existing complaint the Om-
budsman sought some assurances from the Health Board.  The Health Board agreed that it would respond 
to the new concerns raised in the complaint made to the Ombudsman.  

In settlement of Ms A’s complaint regarding her letter of January 2017 the Health Board agreed to:

a) provide a written response to the outstanding complaint letter and,

b) provide an apology for the delay within four weeks of this decision.

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board – Continuing Care
Case Number 201604681 - Report issued in July 2017
Mr A’s Solicitors complained on his behalf about deficiencies in the way Cardiff and Vale University Health 
Board (“the Health Board”) carried out the NHS Funded Containing Care (“NHSFCC”) process.  The So-
licitors complained about the Health Board’s refusal to allow an appeal to an Independent Review Panel 
(“IRP”) for it to consider whether Mr A’s late father in law, Mr M, was eligible for retrospective NHSFCC.  
The Solicitors also had concerns that the Health Board’s decision letter failed to properly explain its decision 
and made no mention of its complaints procedure.

The Ombudsman’s investigation established that there had been shortcomings in the NHSFCC process.  As 
a result the Health Board agreed to settle the complaint on the following terms:

a) The Health Board would complete a new Needs Assessment to determine whether Mr M was 
eligible for retrospective NHSFCC.

b) The Health Board would ensure that when cases were peer reviewed, the date and the peer 
reviewer’s signature was documented on the Needs Assessment.

c) In cases where no eligibility was found, and the decision was taken not to hold an IRP, the 
Health Board would provide the family and their representatives with a full written explanation 
of the rationale behind the decision.  This would include why that decision was made, and an 
explanation setting out why the needs of the individual fell outside of the eligibility criteria.

Page 35



28

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board – Clinical treatment in hospital
Case Number 201701276 - Report issued in July 2017
Mr A contacted the Ombudsman to complain about the standard of care and treatment he had received 
from Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board (“the Health Board”) for an existing health problem. The cen-
tral aspect of the complaint concerned difficulties in arranging diagnostic appointments.

The Ombudsman contacted the Health Board who agreed to undertake the following action as resolution to 
Mr A’s complaint:

a) To contact Mr A to make the necessary arrangements for further clinical tests.

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board – De-registration 
Case Number 201701979 - Report issued in July 2017
Ms H complained that she had not received a response to her complaint, which was raised with the Health 
Board on 8 March 2017.  The substance of the complaint related to Ms H’s GP Surgery, which Betsi Cadwal-
adr University Health Board (“the Health Board”) decided to investigate itself.  However, despite receiving 
assurance in April 2017 that the investigation was “almost complete” no response had been forthcoming.

The Ombudsman found that whilst the Health Board may have had some difficulty in progressing the con-
cern owing to staffing issues, the length of time it has taken for the Health Board to provide a response is 
excessive.  Furthermore, it seemed that the email which advised a response was “almost complete” was 
misleading and did not manage Ms H’s expectations reasonably or realistically.

The Health Board agreed to expedite its investigation and undertake the following actions in settlement of 
the complaint:

a) Apologise for the delays in providing a response; and

b) Ensure that the complaint response is issued by 31 July 2017.

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board – Clinical treatment in hospital 
Case Number 201701191 - Report issued in July 2017

Mr E complained about the care and treatment that his wife received during an endoscopy procedure at 
Wrexham Maelor Hospital in August 2016.  Mr E said that he was dissatisfied with Betsi Cadwaladr Univer-
sity Health Board’s (“the Health Board”) response to his complaint.  Mr E therefore asked the Ombudsman 
to consider his outstanding issues relating to monitoring his wife’s vital signs and pain, communication any 
discomfort she may experience.

Following consideration of the complaint, the Investigating Officer saw no evidence to suggest that the 
outstanding issues raised with the Ombudsman had previously been brought to the attention of the 
Health Board.  Therefore, the Investigating Officer was of the view that it would be beneficial to Mr E to 
discuss the outstanding issues with the Health Board in the first instance.  The Investigating Officer con-
tacted the Health Board to discuss the matter. 

The Health Board agreed to contact Mr E within three weeks of the Ombudsman’s decision being issued, to 
arrange a meeting to discuss the outstanding issues. 

Page 36



29

The Health Board agreed to do so in settlement of the complaint. 

Powys Teaching Health Board – Clinical treatment in hospital
Case Number 201701594 - Report issued in July 2017
Mrs D complained that the Board had failed to provide adequate Mental Health care and treatment for 
her late mother during 2015. She felt that community psychiatric nurse was generally disinterested in her 
mother’s condition and encouraged her to move into a care home when her family considered that she 
could have remained at home. The complainant’s mother sadly passed away on 23 May 2016.

She also complained that the Board had failed to organise a local resolution meeting that it offered her in 
its complaint response letter dated  4 January 2016.

The Ombudsman considered that it was unable to investigate the matters complained of that occurred in 
2015 due to the lapse in time. It did, however, contact the Board in relation to the promised local resolution 
meeting.

The Board agreed to resolve the complaint voluntarily by arranging a meeting with the complainant within 
20 working days of the date of this summary.

Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health Board – Clinical treatment in hospital
Case Number 201701778 - Report issued in July 2017
Mrs H complained that Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health Board (“the Health Board”) had failed to 
diagnose and treat her son who had symptoms similar to Chronic Fatigue Syndrome and Myalgic Encepha-
lomyelitis.

The Ombudsman considered the information available and decided that an investigation would be unlikely 
to achieve anything further for the complainant. He did, however, contact the Board and it agreed to:

1) Arrange a meeting with her (and her son, if appropriate) in order to discuss her concerns, and

2) Provide an action plan in order to diagnose/manage his illness. The action plan will include details 
of the appropriate person to take any action forward i.e. Board staff member/department or parent.

The meeting should be arranged within 20 working days of the date of this summary and an action plan 
provided to her within 10 working days of the meeting.

The Ombudsman considered that the actions promised by the Board were reasonable.  

Cwm Taf University Health Board – Continuing Care
Case Number 201700989 - Report issued in July 2017
Mr A’s solicitor complained on his behalf about the decisions of Cwm Taf University Health Board (“the 
Health Board”) not to award NHS continuing healthcare funding for his mother, Mrs A. The solicitor said 
that in respect of a claim during 2014 to 2015, the Health Board marginalised Mrs A’s needs. The solicitor 
also said that the Health Board failed to take on board the information they submitted for an appeal against 
the 2016 decision because it did not notify them at the relevant time, instead corresponding directly with 
Mr A. 

Page 37



30

The Health Board agreed to take the following actions to resolve the complaint:

a) Hold an Independent Review Panel into the decision not to award continuing healthcare funding be-
tween 2014 and 2015. 

b) Hold an Independent Review Panel into the decision not to award continuing healthcare funding in 2016.  

   

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board – Continuing Care
Case Number 201701350 - Report issued in July 2017
Mr B’s solicitor complained on his behalf about the decision of Cardiff and Vale University Health Board 
(“the Health Board”) not to award NHS continuing healthcare funding for his father, Mr C. The solicitor said 
that in respect of a claim for 2016, which followed an assessment completed on 14 December 2016, the 
Health Board marginalised Mr C’s needs, with particular reference to the domain of nutrition. 

The Health Board agreed to take the following action to resolve the complaint:

a) Hold an Independent Review Panel into the decision not to award continuing healthcare funding for 
2016. 

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board – Clinical treatment in hospital
Case Number 201702165 - Report issued in July 2017
Mr A complained about the length of time that his wife, Mrs A, had waited for hip replacement surgery and 
the standard of care provided to her when she had the surgery in May 2016. 

Due to the amount of unresolved concerns Mr A had following the Health Board’s complaint response, the 
Health Board agreed to provide a further written response no later than 15 September 2017.   

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board – Clinical treatment in hospital 
Case Number 201702364 - Report issued in July 2017
Mr X complained that his mother, Mrs Y, caught Norovirus while on a Betsi Cadwaladr University Health 
Board (“the Health Board”) hospital ward, which Mr X said had led to pneumonia.  Mr X also complained 
that the Health Board’s response to his complaint was factually incorrect. 

The Ombudsman considered that the substantive issue about Mrs Y’s care was out of time for investigation, 
as the care was provided over two years ago.

However, Mrs Y’s name and date of death were incorrect in the Health Board’s response to Mr X’s com-
plaint. Therefore, the Ombudsman asked the Health Board to issue a letter of apology to Mr X, which the 
Health Board agreed to issue within two weeks of his decision.

Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust - Clinical treatment outside hospital
Case Number 201702002 – Report issued in August 2017
Mr A complained to the Ombudsman about the excessive time the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust 
(“the Trust”) had taken to attend to his father after he had fallen at home and was unable to move from 

Page 38



31

the floor.  Mr A was also dissatisfied with the manner in which the Trust had responded to his complaint 
and for its failure to acknowledge shortcomings in the service his father had received. 

Upon considering the information available the Ombudsman was of the view that it appeared from the 
Trust’s response to Mr A that some of the explanations needed to address the concerns Mr A expressed 
might benefit from a joint response from the Trust and the Health Board.  This was because it appeared 
that a significant number of the Trust’s ambulances were unavailable because they were committed to car-
ing for patients outside hospitals and could not be dispatched elsewhere.

The Ombudsman considered that a reasonable resolution in the first instance was for the Trust to convene 
a meeting between Mr A and other family members with representatives from the Trust and the Health 
Board to respond to his concerns.

A GP surgery in the area of Cwm Taf University Health Board – Clinical treatment outside hospital
Case Number 201702587 – Report issued in August 2017
Mr X complained that the Surgery failed to adequately respond to his complaint that the GP had refused to 
renew his medical certificate without conducting an examination and, that the Practice Manager would not 
take him and his partner to a private room to discuss his concerns. 

The Surgery acknowledged that the response to Mr X’s complaint did not meet the requirements of the 
“Putting Things Right” regulations.  The Surgery agreed to  

a) apologise to Mr X for the failure to investigate  and respond to his complaint in accordance with the 
“Putting Things Right” scheme

b) offer Mr X a redress payment of £50 in recognition of the time and trouble in bringing his complaint 
to this office

c) investigate Mr X’s concerns and provide a response in accordance with the “Putting Things Right” 
process, ensuring that his concerns about the GP’s decision not to renew the medical certificate 
without an examination and the Practice Manager’s decision not to take him and his partner to a 
private room to discuss his concerns were addressed.

Hywel Dda University Health Board - Clinical treatment in hospital
Case Number 201702292 – Report issued in August 2017
Mr X complained to the Ombudsman in February 2017 that Hywel Dda University Health Board (“the Health 
Board”) failed to provide the urgent attention his daughter’s eye condition required, which almost resulted 
in a loss of sight in one eye and greatly reduced sight in the other.  Mr X also complained that there were a 
number of inaccuracies in the Health Board’s initial response to his complaint.

On receiving the initial complaint, the Health Board agreed it would carry out a number of actions in order 
to resolve the complaint at that early stage, including issuing Mr X with a response.

Mr X then complained to the Ombudsman that, although a number of the actions were carried out, the 
final response was outstanding 3 months after the Health Board had agreed to “expedite” the complaint 
response.   

Page 39



32

The Ombudsman contacted the Health Board who formally agreed to:

a) send the complaint response by 25 August 2017, and 

b) further apologise to Mr X for the delay.  

Aneurin Bevan University Health Board - Clinical treatment in hospital
Case Number 201701665 – Report issued in August 2017
Mrs G and Mrs A complained to Aneurin Bevan University Health Board (“the Health Board”) about the 
treatment provided to their father following a fall at home, and the palliative and end of life care he re-
ceived before his death.  They also raised concerns about a fall their father had whilst admitted to hospital, 
and the circumstances around his discharge home.  Mrs G and Mrs A met with clinicians and received a full 
response.  In March 2017 Mrs G and Mrs A raised four further questions with the Health Board and re-
quested a further meeting to discuss their concerns.

The Ombudsman found that the Health Board had given assurances that it would meet again with Mrs G 
and Mrs A, but there had been a slight delay in arranging a suitable date.  The Health Board agreed to 
undertake the following actions in settlement of the complaint:

a) Apologise for the delay in arranging a meeting;

b) Arrange and hold a meeting within two months to deal with the four questions identified; and

c) Provide a copy of the Datix report on the falls incident at, or before, the meeting.

Aneurin Bevan University Health Board - Confidentiality
Case Number 201701045 – Report issued in August 2017
Mrs A complained that Aneurin Bevan University Health Board (“the Health Board”) failed to respond 
appropriately to concerns she raised about treatment received at the Early Pregnancy Assessment Unit. 
Specifically Mrs A said that there were some questions relating to her care and treatment which were not 
answered at all.

Further although the Health Board acknowledged some failings in respect of the care provided to Mrs A and 
offered appropriate apologies, she expressed concern that the response failed to recognise the impact and 
suffering experienced. Mrs A was also distressed by the use of a clinical term used to describe her experi-
ence.

The Ombudsman was satisfied that the majority of the concerns raised by Mrs A were appropriately ad-
dressed by the Health Board. It was felt that little further could be achieved by investigation of the failings 
already acknowledged. However the Ombudsman agreed that some of the specific questions raised by Mrs 
A had not been addressed by the Health Board in its original response and that distress had been caused 
by the wording used.

Accordingly the Health Board was asked to:

a) provide a further written response to Mrs A addressing the questions identified in the complaint to 
the Ombudsman and apologise for not having done so previously.

Page 40



33

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board - Clinical treatment in hospital
Case Number 201702047 – Report issued in August 2017
Mrs A complained that Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board (“the Health Board”) had declined to 
progress a complaint she had made about a number of issues relating to her aunt, Mrs C’s, stay in hospital 
and concerns about a delay in her discharge.  The Health Board insisted that signed consent should either 
be sought from Mrs C (who lacked capacity) or that a power of attorney for health and welfare matters in 
favour of Mrs A should be produced. Mrs A only held power of attorney for financial decisions relating to 
Mrs C. 

Whilst accepting that consent is an important requirement for sharing sensitive information with a third 
party, the Ombudsman felt that the position taken by the Health Board had been unreasonable, after con-
sidering the particular circumstances of the case, in that:

•	 Mrs C was Mrs A’s aunt, living next door to her with Mrs A’s mother

•	 Mrs A provided daily care to both (and continued to after Mrs C was discharged home) so making 
decisions about her health and welfare 

•	 The Health Board had asked Mrs A to attend a Best Interest Meeting about Mrs C whilst she was in 
hospital when health and welfare matters were discussed (given Mrs C lacked capacity)

•	 Mrs A’s complaint had also included concerns about matters in her own right as well as those said to 
be on behalf of Mrs C.

The Ombudsman proposed the following recommendations in settlement of the complaint, which the 
Health Board agreed to implement:

a) A written apology to Mrs A for the failure to identify her concerns and for not progressing the com-
plaint (her own and that made on behalf of Mrs C)

b)  To offer Mrs A redress of £75.00 for the failing and her time and trouble in having to pursue the 
matter further

c) To fully consider Mrs A’s complaints and provide a full response to them within 3 months

d) To disseminate learning points regarding the receipt of third party complaints and consent to the 
wider Concerns team.

Hywel Dda University Health Board – Clinical treatment in hospital 
Case Number 201703117 - Report issued in September 2017
Mrs M complained about the care and treatment provided to her late father, Mr N, by Hywel Dda University 
Health Board (“the Health Board”) between November 2015 and January 2016.  Mrs M also complained 
about the Health Board’s complaint handling and failure to provide Mr N’s medical records.

The Ombudsman considered that the substantive issues regarding medical care provided to Mr N were out 
of time for consideration by his office.

The Health Board’s complaint response, whilst issued outside of the 30 working day target, was not so late 
as to be considered unreasonable. 

Page 41



34

The Ombudsman found that there was a significant delay of over six months in the Health Board provid-
ing Mrs M with a copy of Mr N’s medical records.  In settlement of this element of Mrs M’s complaint, the 
Health Board agreed to:

a) Provide Mr N’s medical records to Mrs M by 18 September 2017

b) Apologise to Mrs M for the delay in providing the medical records by 6 October 2017

c) Offer a £100 payment to Mrs M by 6 October 2017 in recognition of the time and trouble caused by 
the delay.

Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health Board - Clinical treatment in hospital 
Case Number 201703462 - Report issued in September 2017
Mr X complained that Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health Board (“the Health Board”) had failed 
to adequately explain the reasons for his partner’s cardiac arrest, and about the way in which the Health 
Board and Coroner’s Office treated him in regards to his next of kin status. 

Mr X also raised concerns about delays in responding to his requests for a post mortem report, and for the 
way the Health Board issued the post mortem report to him via non-secure mail.

In settlement of Mr X’s complaint, the Health Board agreed to complete the following actions by 3 Novem-
ber 2017:

a) Investigate and respond to Mr X’s concerns about an agency nurse and IV drip alarms, as outlined 
in his original complaint

b) Respond to Mr X’s concerns about his treatment as next of kin for his partner

c) Apologise for the post mortem report not being issued in accordance with its own good practice 
postal guidance, and without a covering letter

d) Circulate the good practice postal guidance to all relevant staff

e) Apologise for the delay in the Consultant’s response 

f) Offer a payment of £100 to Mr X in recognition of the distress caused by the Consultant’s delay in 
responding to him. 

The Ombudsman considered that Mr X’s complaint about the Coroner’s Officer was premature for investiga-
tion by his office. 

Whitecross Dental Care Ltd – Clinical treatment outside hospital 
Case Number 201703332 - Report issued in September 2017
Mrs X complained about the examination carried out by a dentist at Whitecross Dental Care Ltd (“the 
Practice”) on 24 April 2017 which resulted in a decision being made that she would need five fillings. Mrs 
X said that she subsequently obtained a second opinion from another Dental Practice which said that she 
only required one filling. Mrs X said that the Practice wrongly said that she had declined an x-ray during her 
examination and that this indicated that the form setting this out had been doctored. Mrs X said that she 
wanted a refund of the price she and her husband paid for their examinations.  

Page 42



35

As Mrs X did not have the five fillings carried out at the Practice, the Ombudsman was not satisfied that she 
could be said to have suffered any injustice. Accordingly, he did not investigate the complaint. As the com-
plaint was not made about the examination carried out in respect of Mrs X’s husband, the Ombudsman did 
not consider it reasonable to request the Practice refund that fee. However, the Practice agreed to under-
take the following actions in settlement of the complaint: 

a) Within ten working days, provide an apology letter for the error in noting on Mrs X’s Health Assess-
ment Form that she had declined an x-ray together with an explanation for how that error occurred.  

b)     Provide with that letter a cheque for £14 in respect of a refund of the fee paid for Mrs X’s examina-
tion. 

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board – Clinical treatment in hospital
Case Number 201701985 - Report issued in September 2017
Mrs E complained about Orthopaedic waiting times for treatment, and a failure on the part of Betsi Cad-
waladr University Health Board (“the Health Board”) to diagnose two herniated disks in her neck.  Mrs E 
explained that she had raised her concerns with the Health Board formally on 27 March 2017, but had 
not received a response.  Furthermore, despite chasing the Health Board for a reply, Mrs E had not even 
received an explanation or apology for the ongoing delays.

The Ombudsman appreciated Mrs E’s frustration that the Health Board had failed to comply with its policy 
regarding timescales for dealing with a complaint, and considered that it should undertake the following 
actions, in settlement of the complaint:

a) apologise for the continued delay; and

b) provide the response by 15 September 2017.

Hywel Dda University Health Board – Clinical treatment in hospital
Case Number 201702528 - Report issued in September 2017
Mr and Mrs P had concerns regarding the maternity care Mrs P received in Spring 2015, and the neonatal 
care provided to their daughter following her birth.  Mr and Mrs complained to the Ombudsman about the 
way Hywel Dda University Health Board (“the Health Board”) had handled their concerns.  Mr and Mrs P’s 
formal complaint was raised with the Health Board in April 2016, but they had yet to receive a response.

The Ombudsman found that the delays were unacceptable, and that by the time the Health Board was 
likely to issue a decision letter, Mr and Mrs P would have been waiting 17 months for a response.  The Om-
budsman decided that this amounted to maladministration.

The Health Board agreed to undertake the following actions, in settlement of the complaint:

a) Apologise for the significant delay and provide an explanation for it

b) Offer £300 time and trouble redress for the delays in complaint handling

c) Expedite the complaint response; and

Page 43



36

d) Complete these actions no later than 30 September 2017.

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board – Clinical treatment in hospital
Case Number 201702323 - Report issued in September 2017
Mrs X’s complaint to Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board (“the Health Board”) centred on the care 
and treatment received by Mrs Y’s late husband prior to his death in September 2016.  Since making the 
complaint on 19 December 2016, Mrs X complains that the Health Board failed to provide updates into the 
investigation of the complaint, and the final response remained outstanding.

On receipt of the complaint, the Health Board was contacted and it agreed to undertake the following in 
settlement of the complaint.

a) Provide the final response to the complaint before 30 September 2017.

•	 Provide a payment of £500 and an apology in recognition of the delay in providing a response, and 
the failure to provide meaningful updates.

Cwm Taf University Health Board – Continuing Care
Case Number 201702584 - Report issued in September 2017
Mr J raised concern about whether or not the long term nursing care needs of his late mother met the 
eligibility criteria for NHS Funded Continuing Healthcare, and whether Cwm Taf University Health Board 
(“the Health Board”) should have been responsible for the cost of the care home fees paid for the period 1 
August 2014 to 10 June 2015.   Mr J complained that the Health Board had refused to allow an Indepen-
dent Review Panel to consider the matter further. 

The Investigating Officer noted correspondence from the Health Board which confirmed that the decision of 
no eligibility for the relevant period had been ratified.   The Investigating Officer also noted that responsi-
bility for completing the retrospective review had been divided between the Health Board and the All Wales 
Retrospective Continuing Healthcare Review Team (AWRCHC) which was considering a separate claim 
period.  Whilst the AWRCHC had decided to refer its case to an Independent Review Panel, there appeared 
to be an element of doubt regarding eligibility.  It therefore followed that an Independent Review Panel 
should be allowed by the Health Board.  

The Health Board agreed to present the case to an Independent Review Panel to be convened on 4 Octo-
ber 2017.   

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board – Clinical treatment in hospital
Case Number 201702156 - Report issued in September 2017
Mrs A complained about the care and treatment received by her late husband at Wrexham Maelor Hospital 
in 2016, before he sadly passed away.

The Ombudsman considered the information available to him and approached the Board which agreed to:

a) write to the complainant within 20 working days of the date of this letter, 

b) and offer a local resolution meeting to discuss the issues complained of and its response to her 
dated 23 March 2017.

The Ombudsman believed that this would resolve Mrs A’s complaint.

Page 44



37

Benefits Administration

EARLY RESOLUTION

Cardiff Council – Benefits Administration 
Case Number 201702787 - Report issued in September 2017
Ms A’s complaint related to a bailiff visit which she said occurred around May 2016 because Cardiff Council 
(“the Council”) was unable to accept her payment in respect of unpaid council tax and failed to return her 
telephone calls.  Ms A was confused regarding the current position with her council tax accounts.        

Although the Ombudsman declined to investigate Mr A’s complaint, he recognised that Ms A would benefit 
from a formal complaints response in relation to this specific incident and a comprehensive summary of her 
council tax accounts.    

Because of this, the Ombudsman contacted the Health Board and it agreed to do the following within three 
months of the date of this decision: 

a)  to fully consider and investigate Ms A’s complaint about the incident in accordance with its formal 
complaints policy and provide her with a response

b) to provide Ms A with a fully comprehensive and clear written summary in relation to her council tax 
accounts.  

Page 45



38

Community Facilities, Recreation and 
Leisure

UPHELD

Raglan Community Council - Other
Case Number 201604323 – Report issued in August 2017
Mrs X complained that Raglan Community Council (“the Community Council”) unfairly rejected her applica-
tion to renew her allotment plot tenancy and consequently wrongly evicted her from her plot.  Mrs X also 
complained about the Community Council’s handling of her complaint.

In relation to Mrs X’s first complaint, the Ombudsman found that the Community Council failed to appropri-
ately process Mrs X’s request for an appeal of its decision to serve her with a notice to vacate her allotment 
plot.  Consequently, she was unjustly denied the opportunity for her case to be heard by an Appeal Panel, 
which amounted to maladministration.

In relation to Mrs X’s second complaint, the Ombudsman found that the Community Council failed to 
adhere to its own complaints procedure when considering Mrs X’s complaint.  As a result, Mrs X did not 
receive a response or satisfactory outcome to her complaint. 

The Ombudsman made a number of recommendations in this case including: 

a) a written apology

b) financial redress, and

c) a fresh appeal hearing for Mrs X and that the Community Council publishes an appeals procedure.

Page 46



Complaint Handling

UPHELD

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board - Health
Case Number 201603005 - Report issued in July 2017 
Mrs X complained that Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board’s (“the Health Board”) complaint handling 
in respect of the care provided to her late husband, Mr X, had been poor, both in relation to the time tak-
en before its final response was provided and the factual inaccuracies the response contained.  Mrs X was 
aggrieved that the Health Board unreasonably changed its position with respect to finding that a breach 
of the duty of care towards Mr X had occurred.  Mrs X also complained that staff had unreasonably decid-
ed not to contact her when Mr X’s condition deteriorated because of what they deemed her circumstances 
to have been. 

The investigation found that the delays in responding to Mrs X’s complaint were wholly unreasonable and 
unacceptable.  There were also clearly significant factual inaccuracies in the final response.  The investi-
gation found that the way the Health Board changed its position with respect to the finding of a breach of 
duty of care was unreasonable given that no proper reason was given for that change.  Finally, the inves-
tigation found that the failure to contact Mrs X sooner in respect of her husband’s deterioration amounted 
to a failing on the part of the Health Board.  These failings caused Mrs X to suffer significant anxiety and 
distress.  The three aspects of this complaint were therefore upheld.  

The Health Board agreed to: 

a) provide a fulsome apology to Mrs X for the failings identified above

b) to share the findings of this report in respect of complaint handling and informing the next of kin 
so that lessons could be learned from the failings found by this investigation.   

NOT UPHELD

City and County of Swansea – Adult Social Services
Case Number 201600964 - Report issued in July 2017
Mr Y complained that City and County of Swansea (“the Council”) provided incorrect information about 
the availability of, and Mrs X’s eligibility for, a Disabled Facilities Grant (“DFG”) for garage conversion 
works to her property in 2014.  As a result Mr Y complained significant unnecessary expenditure was 
incurred as Mrs X paid for the garage conversion.

Mrs X was in hospital following a fall.  She wanted to be discharged home but Mr Y, her son, disagreed 
based on concerns for her safety and her risk of falls.  Mrs X was deemed to have capacity to decide 
where she wished to live when discharged from hospital, and an appropriate care plan was arranged 
to meet Mrs X’s care needs and to address the safety concerns for her return home.  Prior to Mrs X’s 
discharge Mr Y informed the Council that Mrs X had agreed to defer her discharge home until a garage 
conversion was completed.  The Council discussed Mr Y’s plans with Mrs X and the DFG process.  Mrs X 
confirmed she had agreed to the garage conversion provided the works were completed quickly, and she 

39

Page 47



40

did not wish to apply for a DFG as this would delay her discharge home.

The investigation found that Mrs X had capacity to decide where she wished to live on discharge from hos-
pital, Mrs X wanted to be discharged home, and as the owner of the property, Mrs X did not want to delay 
her discharge by applying for a DFG.  The Ombudsman found this was a decision Mrs X was entitled to 
make and Mr Y’s complaint was not upheld.  

Cardiff Council – Various other 
Case Number 201701278 - Report issued in July 2017
Mr C complained that Cardiff Council (“the Council”) had failed to address his concerns or answer the que-
ries he had put to it.  Mr C had made a Freedom of Information request in January 2017 which had given 
rise to a query relating to the Council’s policy on the retention of documentation.  However, despite contact-
ing the Council on a number of occasions he had not received a response.

The Ombudsman found that there has been some confusion as to which department should respond to the 
query, which had resulted in a delay on the part of the Council in dealing with it.

The Council agreed to undertake the following actions in settlement of the complaint:

a) Acknowledge the matter and clarify that the Council will now consider the complaint

b) Apologise for the confusion and delays; and

c) Provide a response to the complaint and the query by 30 June 2017.

Tai Ceredigion Cyf - Housing
Case Number 201701544 - Report issued in July 2017
Ms X complained on behalf of Ms Y that Tai Ceredigion Cyf (“the Association”) had failed to provide ade-
quate reasons why it would not alter a window to provide a door for Ms Y to have access to her garden.  Ms 
X also complained that the Association had failed to respond to Ms Y’s letter to it appealing its decision.

The Association informed the Ombudsman that it had received Ms Y’s appeal letter in January 2017, but 
that it had not been passed to the relevant officer for consideration.  The Ombudsman considered that this 
amounted to maladministration, and agreed the following actions for completion by the Association by 8 
August 2017:

a)    Provide a written apology to Ms Y for failing to respond to her appeal letter

b)    Issue a written response to Ms Y’s appeal letter

c)    Offer a payment of £50 to Ms Y for the time and trouble in raising the complaint with the Ombudsman.

EARLY RESOLUTION

Flintshire County Council – Adult Social Services
Case Number 201702030 – Report issued in August 2017
Mrs X complained that the Council refused to make amendments to a report which was prepared following a 
meeting with her and her brother regarding their father’s care.  

Page 48



41

The Ombudsman noted that the Council had amended errors where it referred to Mrs X’s brother as a fe-
male but after speaking to staff who attended the meeting it believes the remainder of the report is accu-
rate.

However, the Ombudsman was disappointed to also note that the Council had not apologised to Mrs X for 
the errors it had acknowledged and changed.  The Council has therefore agreed to apologise.

Flintshire County Council – Roads and Transport
Case Number 201702683 – Report issued in August 2017
Mr X complained that Flintshire County Council (“the Council”) had failed to respond to his complaint about 
a road island that had been positioned outside his property which made it difficult for him to drive from his 
property when using a trailer.

The Ombudsman found that the Council had received the complaint in June 2017, but had failed to issue a 
formal written response in line with its complaints procedure.

The Council agreed to complete the following actions by 18 August in settlement of Mr X’s complaint:

a) Issue its Stage 1 complaint response to Mr X

b) Apologise for the delay in responding to Mr X

Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health Board - Health
Case Number 201603293 – Report issued in August 2017
Ms T complained that an out of hours general practitioner had failed to consider her previous medical 
history during a telephone consultation on 7 May 2016. This resulted in her not being prescribed antibiotics 
for her suspected tonsillitis. She was of the opinion that this had caused a ‘flare up’ of an ongoing Psoriasis 
condition that she suffers with.

She also complained of being unhappy that she was not offered a ‘face to face’ meeting at the consultation 
or complaint investigation stage.

Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health Board was contacted and it agreed to write to Ms T:

a) apologising for the apparent lack of communication thus far 

b) Offering her an opportunity to attend a local resolution meeting with relevant staff. 

The offer of a local resolution meeting will be made within 10 days of this decision letter and the offer 
dates within 20 working days thereafter.

City and County of Swansea - Adult Social Services
Case Number 201700916 – Report issued in August 2017
Mrs A complained to the Ombudsman about the City and County of Swansea’s (“the Council”) implemen-
tation of an action plan arising from an independent investigation of her complaint.  Mrs A said that the 
actions had not been addressed by the Council in a robust manner. 

On receipt of Mrs A’s complaint, the Ombudsman contacted the Council and it agreed to undertake the 
following in settlement of the complaint:

Page 49



a) To keep recommendations 1 and 2 open pending completion of a wider service review and imple-
mentation of any further actions arising.

b) To keep recommendation 6 open pending confirmation that the requirement for contractors to 
co-operate with the statutory Complaint Process is included within the Social Services contract 
template. 

c) To provide evidence of compliance with the open recommendations directly to the Ombudsman. 

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board - Health
Case Number 201702719 - Report issued in September 2017
Ms X complained about Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board’s (“the Health Board”) complaint handling 
and in particular, that she had not received a final response. 

Upon considering the complaint the Ombudsman was disappointed to note the number of times Ms X felt 
it necessary to contact the Health Board to chase its position with its investigation.

The Ombudsman therefore contacted the Health Board to discuss the concerns.  Since contacting the 
Health Board, it has concluded its investigations and sent a Putting Things Right response to Ms X.

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board - Health
Case Number 201703197 - Report issued in September 2017
Mrs X (an advocate) complained that her Client had not received a “Putting Things Right” response from 
Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board (“the Health Board”) to a complaint which was submitted in 
December 2016.  Putting Things Right is the commonly used name for the arrangements under which 
complaints against the NHS in Wales are considered.

The Ombudsman contacted the Health Board and it agreed to resolve the complaint by:

a) writing to Mrs X’s Client with its response by 13 October 2017

b) including an apology for the delay within that response. 

Carmarthenshire County Council – Various other
Case Number 201702289 - Report issued in September 2017
Mr F complained that Carmarthenshire County Council (“the Council”) failed to respond to correspondence 
dating back to 27 April 2017, regarding his concerns about the siting of two large refuse bins to the front 
of his property.  Mr F explained that the siting of the bins “encourages contravention of the Highway 
Code” regarding waiting and parking provisions.

The Ombudsman found that although two of Mr F’s letters were received by the Waste Management 
Service, the Council’s internal mail systems did not process and distribute all his letters correctly.  Conse-
quently Mr F’s first three letters were received by the Council but failed to reach the relevant team.  The 
Council responded to Mr F’s fourth and fifth letters, but these were returned by Royal Mail uncollected.

The Council agreed to undertake the following actions within three weeks of the date of the Ombuds-

42

Page 50



43

man’s decision, in settlement of the complaint:

a) Apologise for the failures in processing and distributing the correspondence correctly and             
effectively; and

b) Ensure that all relevant staff members are made aware of these events, and the importance of en-
suring that mail is delivered appropriately to the relevant departments.

Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health Board - Health
Case Number 201701893 - Report issued in September 2017
Ms A complained about significant delays by Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health Board (“the Health 
Board”) when investigating her complaint about her father’s treatment and care.  This meant that the stat-
utory limitation period of three years to be able to bring a legal claim had now passed. 

In recognition of the unacceptable delay, the Health Board agreed to:

a) include an apology and redress payment of £250 with its complaint response and; to

b) consent to the extension of the limitation period in this matter, by 12 months from the date of the 
complaint response, in order that Ms A did not lose the opportunity to bring a legal claim thereafter, 
should she wish. 

Hywel Dda University Health Board - Health
Case Number 201702324 - Report issued in September 2017
Mrs X complained that after initially raising her concerns with Hywel Dda University Health Board (“the 
Health Board”) in July 2016, the complaint response remained outstanding.  Mrs X also claimed that the 
Health Board failed to provide an anticipated response date. 

On receipt of Mrs X’s complaint, the Health Board were contacted and agreed to undertake the following in 
settlement of her complaint. 

a) Provide Mrs X with an apology and explanation for the delay in providing the final complaint re-
sponse.

b) Provide Mrs X with a payment of £500 in recognition of the time and trouble in having to take her 
complaint to the Ombudsman, and acknowledgement of poor complaint handling.

Page 51



44

Education

EARLY RESOLUTION

Bridgend County Borough Council – Admissions, procedures and appeals
Case Number 201701286 - Report issued in July 2017
Mr & Mrs A complained that Bridgend County Borough Council (“the Council”) refused a nursery place for 
their child despite meeting the published in-catchment criteria. Mr & Mrs A were not afforded a right of a 
appeal under the Council’s admissions process and pursued this matter as a complaint. Although the Coun-
cil subsequently reviewed the matter and allocated a place to their child Mr & Mrs A were concerned that 
there had been a lack of transparency in the decision making process. In particular Mr & Mrs A became 
concerned that the Council may have applied additional unpublished criteria to refuse their application. 

The Ombudsman noted that conflicting information had been given to Mr & Mrs A to explain why their 
application was initially refused. Although the Ombudsman was satisfied on balance that the decision had 
been taken appropriately by the Council it was noted that there was an omission in the published criteria 
for nursery places.

As a means of resolving the issues identified the Council agreed to:

a) apologise to Mr & Mrs A for any distress has caused and explain how it processed their application.

b) pay £100 to Mr & Mrs A in recognition of the investment of time and trouble taken to pursue this 
matter.

c) amend the nursery element of its published admission policies for by the inclusion of the omitted 
additional criteria.

Page 52



45

Environment and Environmental Health

EARLY RESOLUTION

Wrexham County Borough Council - Refuse collection, recycling and waste disposal
Case Number 201701915 - Report issued in July 2017
Ms X complained that, for over a year, the Council had repeatedly failed to collect her refuse and recycling 
although she is on the assisted collection scheme.

The Ombudsman was disappointed to note the number of times Ms X found it necessary to report missed 
collections, especially in light that she was advised in February 2017 that the matter had been resolved.  It 
is apparent from discussions with the Council that it has taken steps to ensure no further collections will be 
missed.

The Council has agreed to undertake the following actions in settlement of this complaint:-

a) Write to Ms X with its apologies and confirm the actions it has taken post the complaint response of 
24 February 2017;

b) Offer a redress payment in the amount of £50.00 for the inconvenience this matter has caused.

Vale of Glamorgan Council – Refuse collection, recycling and waste disposal
Case Number 201701245 - Report issued in July 2017
Ms P complained that she had not received a response from Vale of Glamorgan Council (“the Council”) to 
her complaint about the garden waste refuse collection service she receives.  Ms P submitted her com-
plaint in October and chased it in November 2016, but did not receive a response.  When the garden waste 
collection began again in March 2017, Ms P contacted the Council again, and the Council agreed to provide 
replacement bags, but they were not delivered and she still had not received a response to her original 
complaint from last year.
The Ombudsman found that the Council missed opportunities to deal comprehensively with Ms P’s com-
plaint and, further, had promised, but failed to deliver on some remedial action, with the result that she 
had waited over eight months for a satisfactory response.

The Council agreed to undertake the following actions, within four weeks of the Ombudsman’s decision 
letter, in settlement of the complaint:

a) Provide a Stage 2 written response to the original complaint

b) Ensure the 10 replacement bags are promptly delivered

c) Offer financial redress of £50 for Ms P’s time and trouble in bringing the matter to the Ombudsman.

Page 53



46

Housing 
NOT UPHELD

Vale of Glamorgan Council- Applications, allocations, transfers and exchanges
Case Number 201603274 - Report issued in July 2017
Ms A complained about Vale of Glamorgan Council’S (the Council”) refusal to consider her as a priority for 
re-housing, despite health professional support that her current accommodation was detrimental to her and 
her family’s health.

The Ombudsman’s investigation concluded that the Council had been proactive in trying to address Ms A’s 
housing concerns.  It had reviewed her case on receipt of further supporting evidence but had determined 
she did not meet the criteria for immediate re-housing priority.  Given Ms A’s need to move, the Ombuds-
man found that the Council had exercised its discretion and placed on her the housing register.   The Om-
budsman, in the absence of administrative failing, found no grounds to criticise the Council’s actions.  Ms 
A’s complaint was not upheld.

Trivallis - Neighbour disputes and antisocial behaviour
Case Number 201604677 - Report issued in August 2017
Mrs X said that she had been the victim of her neighbours anti social behaviour since March 2016, and 
despite numerous complaints, Trivallis Housing Association (“Trivallis”) failed to take action to resolve the 
matter. Mrs X also complained that Trivallis failed to adequately respond to her complaint.

The investigation found that Trivallis had undertaken reasonable and proportionate action to address the 
concerns of anti social behaviour Mrs X reported. The investigation also found that Trivallis had responded 
to Mrs X’s concerns and that its response and the associated actions were reasonable.

The complaint was not upheld.

EARLY RESOLUTION

Grwp Cynefin – Right to Buy
Case Number 201701152 - Report issued in July 2017
Mrs J complained that Grwp Cynefin (“the Group”) had failed to correctly administer her application to pur-
chase the property that she resided in with her late husband. This resulted in an increased valuation of the 
property by £2,000.

She also complained that the Group had failed to carry out cyclical maintenance work in a timely manner 
and that much of the work was poor in quality.

The Ombudsman considered that the matters complained of should not be investigated. It contacted the 
Group which agreed to;

(a) Write a letter to the complainant requesting confirmation of her wish to proceed with the purchase of 
the property.

Page 54



47

This will be completed within 20 working days of the date of this summary.

The Ombudsman considered that the action promised by the Group was reasonable.

Trivallis - Repairs and maintenance (inc dampness/improvements and alterations eg central heating. double 
glazing)
Case Number 201605406 - Report issued in August 2017
Ms A complained that the adaptation work Trivallis (“the Housing Association”) had carried out to install 
a ramp meant she was now unable to access the property using her mobility scooter.  She also expressed 
dissatisfaction with repair work carried out to her kitchen floor. 

The Ombudsman concluded that the adaptation work the Housing Association had initially undertaken had 
worsened Ms A’s situation as a disabled person.  He also identified shortcomings in the way the Housing 
Association carried out its adaptations and reminded the Housing Association of its wider equality duty 
when it came to meeting the needs of its disabled tenants.   

As part of the settlement on this case the Housing Association set out some of the changes it had intro-
duced as a result of Ms A’s complaint.  It also said that it would be carrying out a review of its adaptations 
policy.  The Housing Association agreed to:

a) apologise to Ms A for the failings identified

b) pay her £500, and

c) reflect on its equality duty and what additional measures it might need to implement to ensure 
compliance with that duty.  

Page 55



48

Planning and building control
UPHELD

Flintshire County Council - Handling of planning application (other)
Case Number 201603333 - Report issued in July 2017
Miss X complained that Flintshire County Council (“the Council) did not give proper consideration to a plan-
ning application.  She also complained about the way the Council handled her complaint.

In relation to the first complaint, that the Council failed to give proper consideration to a planning applica-
tion, the Ombudsman found that the Council failed to adequately demonstrate that it appropriately consid-
ered the listed status of the property when reaching its decision to grant temporary planning permission.  
However, this did not result in an injustice to Miss X and therefore the complaint was not upheld.

In relation to the second complaint, the Ombudsman found that there was a delay in responding to Miss X’s 
complaint and that the Council did not provide Miss X with an explanation for the delay.  The complaint was 
upheld and the Ombudsman recommended that the Council apologised to Miss X.

NOT UPHELD

Gwynedd Council - Rights of way and public footpaths
Case Number 201602184 - Report issued in August 2017
Mr A complained on behalf of his partner Ms B, who owns a property (“the House”) in the area of Gwynedd 
Council (“the Council”).  Mr A complained about the Council’s decision to create a public right of way across 
Ms B’s property.  Specifically, that the Council failed to:

•	 Fully consider alternative routes for the right of way, in particular those proposed by Ms B, and pro-
vide reasons for rejecting them

•	 Inform Ms B that she would be responsible for enforcing any trespass by cyclists using the right of 
way.

The Ombudsman found that, in specific circumstances, the Council could create a right of way across a 
piece of land owned by a third party irrespective of whether the landowner agreed.  The Council, having 
considered the alternative routes available, concluded that the proposed route across Ms B’s property was 
the preferred option and provided Ms B with a reasoned explanation.

The Ombudsman also found that Ms B had been represented by a solicitor and consultant and, that it had 
been open to her to discuss those matters during the negotiation stages of the process.  Furthermore, 
there was no intention to promote the new right of way as a cycle path, and that the Council had agreed to 
place appropriate signage in the area. The Ombudsman did not uphold the complaint. 

Page 56



49

EARLY RESOLUTION

Vale of Glamorgan Council – Handling of planning application (other)
Case Number 201701962- Report issued in July 2017
Mr X complained that the Vale of Glamorgan Council (“the Council”) had given very little consideration to 
his family’s privacy when granting planning permission for a decking area to his neighbour’s property.

The Ombudsman, having sought advice from his Professional Adviser, found no evidence that the Council’s 
decision to grant planning permission was reached in an improper manner, being the extent of his jurisdic-
tion.

The Council’s report did not explicitly evidence its consideration of the impact of the decking area on Mr X, 
although its subsequent complaint response provided explanations which appeared to be reasonable.  The 
Council also offered Mr X a remedy in that he could erect an enclosure for privacy; however, it did not spec-
ify what could be erected without Mr X applying for planning permission.

The Council agreed to complete the following actions by 11 August 2017:

a) Apologise to Mr X that the officer’s consideration of the impact of the decking area on him was 
omitted from the report

b) Remind officers of the importance of including such considerations in reports

c) Write to Mr X to clarify what enclosure he might erect without requiring planning permission. 

Page 57



50

Self funding care provider

EARLY RESOLUTION

Wrexham County Borough Council – Domiciliary care
Case Number 201701995 - Report issued in July 2017
Miss X complained that the findings made in a Formal Investigation of a Social Services complaint complet-
ed on behalf of the Wrexham County Borough Council (“the Council”) were based on hearsay and gossip. 
One of her four complaints was upheld.

The Ombudsman was satisfied that the Formal Investigation report was completed using an appropriate 
method and that the conclusions reached were reasoned and based on direct evidence provided. Whilst 
noting that Miss X disputed the evidence and conclusions reached it was determined that little further could 
be achieved by investigation of these issues by the Ombudsman.

However when considering the Council’s response to findings of the Formal Investigation the Ombudsman 
felt that a further and meaningful response should have been provided to her recognising the impact and 
effect of the failing identified on Miss D and her family. The Council therefore agreed to provide the follow-
ing in resolution of this concern:

a)  A further complaint response in respect of the upheld complaint.  

b)  Apology in respect of this failing and for not having provided a meaningful apology previously.

Page 58



51

Social services - Adult

EARLY RESOLUTION

Cardiff Council – Services for people with a disability
Case Number 201701492 - Report issued in July 2017
Mr and Mrs T complained that Cardiff Council (“the Council”) had failed to consider the needs of people 
with disabilities including them, when it decided to transfer the management of one of its Leisure Centres 
to a private contractor.  They also complained that following a meeting with the Council in September 2016, 
it failed to respond to question they sent it in relation to the transfer.  They further complained that the 
Council had failed to properly deal with the complaint they made to it about its non response to their initial 
questions.

The Ombudsman considered the information available to him and decided found that there were no 
grounds to investigate the first and last part of their complaint.

He did, however, consider that the Council should have responded to the initial questions posed by the 
complainants following their initial meeting.

He contacted the Council and it agreed to:

a) write to the complainants apologising for failing to reply to their initial questions.

b) offer a payment of £50 in recognition of the time and trouble taken by them in pursuing the initial 
response from it.

The Council stated that it would complete this within 20 working days of the date of the letter.

Conwy County Borough Council - Other
Case Number 201701859 - Report issued in August 2017
Mrs A complained that her sister’s social worker made a referral regarding her son’s family to the Conwy 
County Borough Council’s (“the Council”) Children’s Social Services department contrary to her agreement 
with the Council.  Mrs A also complained about the current care package and facilities being provided to 
her sister and about the communication issues between her and Social Services.  Finally, she complained 
that her sister had been assigned a male social worker.  

Although the Ombudsman declined to investigate Mrs A’s complaint about the anonymous referral, as 
matters relating to child protection could not form part of any such agreement, he contacted the Council 
to discuss Mrs A’s outstanding concerns who confirmed that certain action had already been taken and/or 
would be taken to resolve these matters as follows:   

a) Mrs A’s sister’s social worker had been changed who is the new point of contact

b) To contact Mrs A to arrange a meeting, during which Mrs A’s concerns about the current situation 
will be fully discussed, including the issue of her sister’s mobility and the provision of a stair lift and 
downstairs toilet within the home, and 

Page 59



52

c) to consider whether a further Occupational Therapy assessment ought to be carried out. 

Supporting evidence of the outcome of this contact to be provided to the Ombudsman within one month.  

Ceredigion County Council - Services for vulnerable adults (eg with learning difficulties. or with mental 
health issues)
Case Number 201701807 - Report issued in August 2017
Mr X complained about a number of issues surrounding a care package provided to him by Ceredigion 
County Council’s Social Services Department (“the Council”). The Council had offered Mr X a complaint in-
vestigation under stage two of its Social Services complaint procedure however he had concerns about the 
process and instead referred the complaint to the Ombudsman.

In accordance with the Social Services Complaints Procedure (Wales) Regulations 2014, the Ombudsman 
decided that Mr X’s complaint should be referred back to the Council to be dealt with under stage two of 
the Social Services complaints procedure. The Council agreed to this course of action and also agreed that 
Mr X would be offered the support of an advocate and a choice of two independent investigating officers to 
meet his needs.

If Mr X remained dissatisfied when he had received the report at the end of the stage two process the Om-
budsman confirmed that his office could be approached again.

Hywel Dda University Health Board - Services for vulnerable adults
Case Number 201702389 - Report issued in September 2017
Mr X complained that Cardiff Council (“the Health Board”) failed to respond to his complaint concerning the 
care of his daughter. 

Upon discussing Mr X’s complaint with the Health Board he was advised that a response was recently sent.  
However, it recognised there was a nine month delay in finalising its investigation and, therefore, agreed to 
undertake the following in settlement of this complaint:

a) Write to Mr X to apologise for the delay in finalising its response;

b) Include a meaningful explanation of the delays in finalising its investigation;

c) Offer a financial redress payment for time and trouble and recognition of the nine month delay in 
the sum of £150.00.

Pembrokeshire County Council – Services for vulnerable adults 
Case Number 201701536 - Report issued in September 2017
Mr A complained that, whilst he was resident at a Cardiff Council (“Council”) reablement facility, staff dis-
posed of two black bags of his shoes and trainers that were stored in the attic.

On receipt of the complaint, the Ombudsman contacted the Council and it agreed to:  

•	 apologise to Mr A for disposing of his belongings,

Page 60



53

•	 make a redress payment of £225 to compensate Mr A for his loss and the distress and inconve-
nience caused; and to

•	 provide Mr A with an explanation of the changes made to prevent this from happening to anyone 
else.

Page 61



54

Social Services – Children 

UPHELD 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council - Other
Case Number 201601000 - Report issued in July 2017
Mr B, a looked after child, complained that Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council’s (“the Council”) Social 
Services had let him down and had not provided him with sufficient psychological support to enable him to 
address his mental health issues.  This had affected his education.  Mr B also complained that the Council 
had failed to help him join a football club’s Academy.  

The Ombudsman did not identify any undue delay on the part of the Council.  He found evidence that the 
Council had worked with agencies/individuals to try to obtain the necessary support for Mr B and where 
necessary had liaised and met with them as well as escalating concerns to senior management.  The Om-
budsman did not uphold this part of Mr B’s complaint.  

In relation to Mr B’s complaint about the football club, shortcomings in record keeping meant it was not 
possible to be clear as to the sequence of events.  To that extent the Ombudsman upheld this part of Mr 
B’s complaint.  

By way of recommendation the Council was asked to issue a general reminder to staff about the impor-
tance of record keeping.  

EARLY RESOLUTION

Bridgend County Borough Council - Children in care/taken into care/’at risk’ register/child abuse/custody of 
children
Case Number 201701070
Ms X, an advocate, complained on behalf of her client, Ms Y, about the way in which the Council had pro-
vided services for her daughter, who was subject of a Care Order.

The Ombudsman considered the complaint and asked Bridgend County Borough Council (“the Council”) to 
arrange for an independent investigation to be carried out under Stage Two of the Social Services Com-
plaints Procedure. The Council agreed to do so and the Ombudsman considered this to be an appropriate 
resolution to the complaint. 

Powys County Council - Other
Case Number 201701151
Mr X complained that Powys County Council (“the Council”) did not investigate his Social Services complaint 
at Stage 2 of its procedure. The Ombudsman considered that in accordance with the Social Services Com-
plaints Procedure (Wales) Regulations 2014 (“the Regulations”), the Council was not able to have refused 
to have done so.  

The Council agreed to take the following actions to resolve the complaint: 

a) Apologise to Mr X for its failure to undertake a Stage 2 investigation
Page 62



55

b)  Undertake a Stage 2 investigation and provide a report within 25 working days

c)  Remind relevant staff of the content of the Regulations, with particular reference to the procedures 
with regard to Stage 2 investigations. 

Cardiff Council - Children in care/taken into care/’at risk’ register/child abuse/custody of children
Case Number 201702018 - Report issued in August 2017
Mrs F complained that she had made a complaint to Cardiff Council (“the Council”) which had not been 
investigated.  The complaint was about the care her adopted child had received in foster care, it also raised 
concerns about a child which remains with the foster carers.  The Council undertook a child protection 
investigation in relation to the child who remains in foster care but did not investigate the complaint about 
the standard of service received by Mrs F’s adopted child.  

The Council acknowledged that failing to address the complaint using its complaints procedure was an 
oversight and agreed to undertake a stage two (independent) investigation into the complaint.  Mrs F 
agreed that this would settle her complaint. 

Pembrokeshire County Council - Other
Case Number 201701576 - Report issued in August 2017
Mr A complained that Pembrokeshire County Council’s (“the Council”) Social Services Department failed to 
adequately address concerns he raised about the actions taken by officers prior to and during Court pro-
ceedings in respect of to his grandchildren. Specifically Mr A disputed that enquiries were made with him as 
a potential long-term carer and said that his calls were not responded to.

The Ombudsman considered the response provided by the Council and agreed that it contained a limited 
explanation of the events, failed to explain what evidence had been considered or information sought when 
responding to the complaint and/or the rationale for decisions taken.

In addition the Ombudsman noted that the response failed to provide information to Mr A in relation to the 
relevant complaints procedure.

As a means of early resolution the Council agreed to:

a) undertake an internal review of events and produce a written response. In doing so the Council 
will provide information on the complaints procedure to Mr A.

b) apologise to Mr A for not having provided information previously.

c) remind relevant staff of the obligations under complaints procedure. 

 

Page 63



56

Various Other

UPHELD

Cardiff Council – Other miscellaneous
Case Number 201602784 - Report issued in July 2017
Mr S complained about the actions of Cardiff Council (“the Council”) between 2011 and 2016 in relation to 
the proposed grant of a lease of land (“the land”) at the intersection of two major roads (“the junction”) in 
the Council’s area.  Mr S intended to use the land for a used car sales business.  The proposed lease was 
first drafted in 2011, but the negotiations over the terms of an agreement relating to the grant of planning 
consent meant that it had not been completed by the end of 2015.  In February 2016 the Council told Mr S 
that the land was needed in connection with its Local Transport Plan, and withdrew the offer of a lease. 

The Ombudsman upheld the complaint.  He found that the Council’s initial insistence on large-scale high-
ways works being required for the agreement, only to subsequently accept lesser work, amounted to mal-
administration.  This had led to a delay in the completion of the agreement and, thus, the opportunity for 
the lease to have been completed in a timely manner or at all.  The Council’s failure to inform Mr S that the 
land might be required for its Local Transport Plan was also maladministration. 

The Ombudsman recommended that the Council apologise to Ms S, and reimburse him for the costs he had 
incurred, as well as making a payment of £3000 to him in recognition of his time and trouble in attempting 
to obtain a lease.  He also recommended that the Council review its processes for internal communication.

NOT UPHELD

Carmarthenshire County Council – Economic Development
Case Number 201604969 - Report issued in July 2017 
Mr H complained that there were flaws in a tendering exercise carried out by Carmarthenshire County 
Council (“the Council”).  In particular, he was concerned that his Company had lost out due to shortcom-
ings in how the quotes were assessed by the Council.

The Ombudsman found that there was no evidence that the Council’s assessment of the rival tenders was 
flawed.  The tenders were assessed in the same way against the same criteria.  Whilst the information 
provided to the bidders beforehand could have been clearer, this affected all the bidders equally.  The Om-
budsman did not uphold the complaint.

EARLY RESOLUTION

Conwy County Borough Council - Poor/No communication or failure to provide information
Case Number 201702502 - Report issued in August 2017
Mr T complained that Conwy County Borough Council (“the Council”) had failed to reply to his request for 
a meeting to discuss ongoing issues regarding flooding on the road outside his home. Mr T stated that he 
had contacted the Council in March 2017 and again in April, but, had not received a reply. 

Page 64



57

The Ombudsman discovered that the Council had initially sent an email to the complainant offering a num-
ber of dates, but, he had replied without including the Council’s email address in his communication.

The Ombudsman contacted the Council and they agreed to write to the complainant within ten 10 working 
days of the date of this letter, offering further dates for a meeting. 

The Ombudsman considers that this action will resolve Mr T’s complaint. 

Natural Resources Wales - Poor/no communication or failure to provide information 
Case Number 201702437 - Report issued in September 2017
Mr S complained that Natural Resources Wales (“NRW”) had caused a number of problems and disruption 
to his daily life during tree felling operations on its land near his home.  He also complained that its com-
munication and complaint handling had been poor.

The Ombudsman found that the majority of issues raised in his complaint were matters of liability and fell 
outside his jurisdiction.  He did, however, find that there some issues had not been fully addressed.

He contacted NRW who agreed to:

a) write a letter to Mr S providing him with a response to six outstanding matters and, where re-
quired, a target date for completion of the action concerned.

It was agreed that this would be completed within 20 working days of the date of this letter.

Page 65



58

More information
Full reports can be found on our website: www.ombudsman-wales.org.uk.  If you cannot find the report 
you want, you can request a copy by emailing ask@ombudsman-wales.org.uk.

We value any comments or feedback you may have regarding The Ombudsman’s Casebook. We 
would also be happy to answer any queries you may have regarding its contents. Any such correspondence 
can be emailed to Matthew.Aplin@ombudsman-wales.org.uk or Lucy.John@ombudsman-wales.org.uk or 
sent to the following address:

Public Services Ombudsman for Wales
1 Ffordd yr Hen Gae
Pencoed
CF35 5LJ

Tel:    0300 790 0203
Fax:    01656 641199
e-mail:  ask@ombudsman-wales.org.uk (general enquiries)

Follow us on Twitter: @OmbudsmanWales

Further information about the service offered by the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales can also be 
found at www.ombudsman-wales.org.uk

Page 66

http://www.ombudsman-wales.org.uk
mailto:ask%40ombudsman-wales.org.uk?subject=
mailto:Matthew.Aplin%40ombudsman-wales.org.uk?subject=
mailto:Lucy.John%40ombudsman-wales.org.uk?subject=
mailto:ask%40ombudsman-wales.org.uk?subject=
https://twitter.com/OmbudsmanWales
www.ombudsman-wales.org.uk


BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO THE STANDARDS COMMITTEE  

30 NOVEMBER 2017

REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER

ONE VOICE WALES – MODEL PROTOCOL

1. Purpose of Report

1.1 To provide Members with the Model Protocol for low level complaints published by 
One Voice Wales.    

2. Connection to Corporate Improvement Plan / Other Corporate Priority

2.1 Standards are an implicit requirement in the successful implementation of the 
Corporate Themes.

3. Background

3.1 Last year the Ombudsman introduced local resolution for county councils to 
encourage low level complaints to be referred to the Monitoring Officer in the first 
instance.  Town and Community Councils have started to adopt this approach and 
One Voice Wales has published a Model Protocol (Appendix 1) to encourage and 
help them to do so.  

4. Current situation / proposal

4.1 The Model Protocol is meant as a starting point for Community and Town councils. 
Individual councils may wish to add or amend this model to suit their particular 
needs. Councils wishing to use this process should first of all be clear about its 
purpose and intention, formally adopt it in its current or in a revised form and ensure 
that all Councillors are provided with a copy for their attention.

5. Effect upon Policy Framework& Procedure Rules

5.1 None.  

6. Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 None. 

7. Financial Implications

7.1 None.   

8. Recommendation

Page 67

Agenda Item 5



8.1 The Committee is recommended to note the report.      

Contact Officer: Mr P A Jolley  
Corporate Director – Operational & Partnership Services and 
Monitoring Officer

Telephone: (01656) 643106
E-mail: Andrew. Jolley@bridgend.gov.uk 

Postal Address Level 2,
Civic Offices, 
Angel Street, 
Bridgend
CF31 4WB 

Background Documents
None 

Page 68



 

 

Model Local Resolution Protocol  

for Community and Town Councils 

 

  

 
 

 

 

Page 69



ONE VOICE WALES 
 

Model Local Resolution Protocol  
for Community and Town Councils 

 
Background 
 
The Public Service Ombudsman has agreed to the principle of referring some 
complaints against Members back to Community and Town Councils for a local 
resolution. However to date there has not been a common process for Community 
and Town Councils to follow in dealing with such matters. To assist the sector, One 
Voice Wales has drawn up the following as a model protocol which any Community 
and Town Council can use in dealing with such complaints.  
 
This model protocol is meant as a starting point for Community and Town councils. 
Individual councils may wish to add or amend this model to suit their particular 
needs. Councils wishing to use this process should first of all be clear about its 
purpose and intention, formally adopt it in its current or in a revised form and ensure 
that all Councillors are provided with a copy for their attention. The Council should 
then determine the framework through which it is operated which may require the 
establishment of a Committee or Panel or an extension of the terms of reference of 
an existing Panel or Committee such as a Complaints Panel or Committee. In the 
case of establishment of a new Panel it is important that terms of reference are 
prepared and approved by the Council. In either case it will be important for Councils 
to document in the terms of reference as to what will happen if there is a lack of co-
operation shown by the member concerned or a breakdown occurring during the 
operation of the process. For example, in such cases the default position might be 
that the matter is referred to the Public Ombudsman for Wales. 
 
The Local Resolution Process 
 
Issues which should be considered under this process 
Low level complaints about Members, including: 
 

 Minor complaints from Members about Members 

 Minor complaints from Officers about Members 

 Members alleged to have not shown respect and consideration for others – 
either verbally or in writing 

 
Issues which should not be considered under this process 
Complaints which must be directed to the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales, 
including: 
 

 Complaints instigated by a member of the public  

 Serious complaints – breaches of the Code of Conduct/failure to disclose 
interests/bullying/abuse of position or trust/repeated breaches 

 Complaints made by the Clerk/Proper Officer 

 Vexatious, malicious or frivolous complaints 
 Members’ complaints about officers which should be dealt with using the 

Council’s   internal complaints process 

 Repetitive low level complaints 
 
Page 70



The Process 
 
The complaint 
The complaint would need to be sent to the Clerk/Proper Officer of the Council to 
undertake a first sift to ensure that the complaint is at a low level and should not be 
dealt with by way of a complaint to the Ombudsman. If appropriate, therefore, the 
Clerk/Proper Officer should firstly seek an early resolution of any such dispute by 
liaising informally with the individual members concerned prior to the resolution 
process described below. It is vitally important that the ‘accused’ member is given full 
details of the complaint against them so that in the interests of natural justice they 
are in a position to prepare their response to the accusation. 
 
Resolution Process 
The involvement of the Chair/Vice Chair of the Council in the following process is not 
to adjudicate on the complaint, but to attempt to get the members/officers involved to 
come to an agreement as to how the issue(s) could be resolved on an amicable 
basis. 
 
The Clerk/Proper Officer will act as a facilitator for the resolution process below. 
 
If the complaint is between Members other than the Chair of the Council, the 
Clerk/Proper Officer and the Chair will meet individually with the complainant and 
Member subject of the complaint to seek an agreed resolution. 
 
If the complaint is between Members, one of whom is the Chair of Council, but not 
the Vice Chair, the Clerk/Proper Officer and the Vice Chair will meet with the 
complainant and Member subject of the complaint to seek an agreed resolution. 
 
If the complaint has been made by an officer/employee, but not the Clerk/Proper 
Officer, against a Member other than the Chair of Council, the Clerk/Proper Officer 
and the Chair of Council will meet with the officer and the Member subject of the 
complaint to seek an agreed resolution. 
 
If the complaint has been made by an officer/employee, but not the Clerk/Proper 
Officer, against the Chair of Council, the Clerk/Proper Officer and the Vice Chair of 
Council will meet with the officer and the Chair to seek an agreed resolution. 
 
If the complaint has been made by the Clerk/Proper Officer, then it is likely to be best 
practice that this complaint is forwarded by way of a complaint to the Ombudsman. 
 
Possible results of the process 
If an agreement is reached by Members and/or officers during this Stage then no 
further action is required. 
 
If agreement cannot be reached the aggrieved Member/officer would always have 
the opportunity of referring the matter to the Ombudsman. 
 
Examples of agreements might include issue of a letter of apology, a written 
undertaking or commitment not to breach the Code of Conduct in the future, a 
commitment to undertake training or an agreement that on the basis of the evidence 
that no further action should be taken  and the matter be closed. 
 
 

Page 71



Time for the process 
It is the intention that all of the processes can be completed as quickly as possible to 
resolve the issue. However exact timing will depend on the availability of individuals 
to attend the meetings. 

Page 72



Important Points to Note in preparing a process for use by the Council 
 
The Clerk/Proper officer, Chair and Vice Chairs of Councils should consider 
receiving appropriate training in facilitation and mediation to be in a position to 
maximise the benefit of this process. Councils wishing to pursue this route should 
contact One Voice Wales for guidance. 
 
Councils might want to include some guidance where complaints which are most 
appropriately dealt with under this process are referred back to the Council by 
PSOW. The PSOW could actively do this if the Council has an approved process. 
 
It is suggested that any meetings held with a view to discussing the issues of 
complaints and/or resolving matters are at the very least minuted, if not recorded. 
This is to ensure that agreements are captured. This will also be useful in the event 
that matters break down or escalate and need to be referred to the PSOW. It may 
also be useful as evidence in the event of further similar breaches of the conduct and 
future conduct. 
 
Councils need to be clear on their powers in respect of code of conduct matters. The 
Ombudsman has seen examples of councils who have deemed it appropriate to fully 
investigate a code complaint, decide that there has been a breach and some have 
even thought it appropriate to consider the issue of a sanction. Investigations of 
possible breaches of the Code are matters for the Ombudsman.  The Local 
Government Act 2000 gives him the authority to carry out such investigations.  The 
Council has no legal authority to undertake such investigations or to make findings of 
a breach of the Code of Conduct, which are decisions that can only be reached by a 
Standards Committee or the Adjudication Panel for Wales.   
 

Page 73



 

 

ABOUT ONE VOICE WALES 

One Voice Wales is the national representative organisation for 

Community and Town Councils throughout Wales. The vision 

subscribed to by One Voice Wales is: 

“Working with local councils in Wales to shape places communities 

want to live in” 

One Voice Wales aims to support Community and Town Councils in 
achieving this vision and has adopted the following Mission 
Statement to guide its work: 
 

“To represent the interests of Community and Town Councils; raise 
awareness and understanding of this primary tier of government; 
and work collaboratively with our partners to ensure the sector 
contributes fully to the goal of developing dynamic and 
sustainable communities in Wales.” 

 

One Voice Wales 
24c College Street 

Ammanford 
SA18 3AF 

01269 595 400 
admin@onevoicewales.org.uk 

www.onevoicewales.org.uk 

Page 74

mailto:admin@onevoicewales.org.uk
http://www.onevoicewales.org.uk/


BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO THE STANDARDS COMMITTEE  

30 NOVEMBER 2017

REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER

ADJUDICATION PANEL FOR WALES ANNUAL REPORT

1. Purpose of Report

1.1 To provide Members with the Adjudication Panel for Wales Annual Report 2014-15 / 
2015-16 (combined).      

2. Connection to Corporate Improvement Plan / Other Corporate Priority

2.1 Standards are an implicit requirement in the successful implementation of the 
Corporate Themes.

3. Background

3.1 The Adjudication Panel for Wales (APW) is an independent tribunal that has been 
set up to determine alleged breaches against an authority’s statutory Code of 
Conduct by elected and co-opted members of Welsh county, county borough and 
community councils, fire and national park authorities.  

3.2 The APW has two statutory functions in relation to breaches of the Code of 
Conduct:

 To form case or interim case tribunals to consider references from the Public 
Services Ombudsman for Wales, following the investigation of allegations that a 
member has failed to comply with their authority’s Code of Conduct; and 

 To consider appeals from members against the decisions of local authority 
standards committees that they have breached the Code of Conduct.  

4. Current situation / proposal

4.1 A Tribunal year runs from April to March.  The Annual Report (Appendix 1) covers 
two tribunal years.  Summaries of the cases determined by the APW appear within 
the report.  

5. Effect upon Policy Framework& Procedure Rules

5.1 None.  

6. Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 None. 

Page 75

Agenda Item 6



7. Financial Implications

7.1 None.   

8. Recommendation

8.1 The Committee is recommended to note the report.      

Contact Officer: Mr P A Jolley  
Corporate Director – Operational & Partnership Services and 
Monitoring Officer

Telephone: (01656) 643106
E-mail: Andrew. Jolley@bridgend.gov.uk 

Postal Address Level 2,
Civic Offices, 
Angel Street, 
Bridgend
CF31 4WB 

Background Documents
None 

Page 76



Adjudication Panel for Wales
Annual Report
2014–2015 / 2015–2016
Combined 

Page 77



2

Contents

Foreword  3

Section 1 About Us  4

Section 2 Performance and Progress 7

Section 3 Case Summaries 11

Section 4 Our Customers 14

Section 5 Business Priorities 15

Section 6 Expenditure 15

    © Crown copyright 2017       WG30181       Digital ISBN 978 1 4734 8069-8

Mae’r ddogfen yma hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg.
This document is also available in Welsh. 

Page 78



3

Foreword
This is my first annual report as President of the Adjudication 
Panel for Wales (APW). The report covers the period 1 April 2014 – 
31 March 2016. You will note that this annual report covers a two 
year period, as opposed to the usual twelve months. The publication 
of this report was delayed due to the few cases dealt with by 
the APW and the retirement from office of my predecessor, 
Mr J Peter Davies. I hope you find the report informative and 
user friendly.

We aim to ensure that the APW serves the interests of all those 
in Wales falling within our jurisdiction, by dealing with any 

disputes both efficiently and effectively. Specifically we make every effort to ensure that 
all those involved in the dispute ultimately feel that the dispute has been fairly resolved 
within as short a timescale as is reasonable. We also are conscious that the wider public 
must have confidence that any breaches of the Code of Conduct by members of relevant 
authorities will be dealt with fairly and in a timely way in order to uphold trust and confidence 
in local democracy.

As can be seen from the statistics set out in the Report, various Applications have been 
made to the APW during the past 2 years. The most common types of cases before the 
APW relate to allegations concerning failures to disclose personal and prejudicial interests. 
It would appear that a very small minority of councillors struggle to identify when a personal 
or prejudicial interest exists, despite training and the guidance issued by the Public Services 
Ombudsman for Wales.

Any questions or comments arising as to any aspect of the workings of the APW, or as to the 
contents of the Report, are most welcome and should in the first instance be addressed to 
the Secretariat.

Claire Sharp 
President, Adjudication Panel for Wales

Page 79



4

Section 1 – About Us

In this section:

• Basis for the APW
• The APW’s Function
• The APW’s Regulations
• The APW’s Process
• Members of the APW
• Appointments
• Training
• Contacting the APW
• Accessing the APW

Basis for the APW
The Adjudication Panel for Wales (APW) is an independent tribunal that has been set up 
to determine alleged breaches against an authority’s statutory Code of Conduct by elected 
and co-opted members of Welsh county, county borough and community councils, fire and 
national park authorities.

The APW was established under Part III of the Local Government Act 2000.

The APW’s Function
The Code of Conduct for an authority provides its members with a set of standards expected 
of them in public life. The code of conduct covers various requirements as to how members 
should conduct themselves and includes requirements in relation to equality, personal and 
prejudicial interests, confidential information, their authority’s resources and the need to 
avoid bringing their office or authority into disrepute.

The APW has two statutory functions in relation to breaches of the Code of Conduct:
• to form case or interim case tribunals (“Case Tribunals”) to consider references from 

the Public Service Ombudsman for Wales (PSOW), following the investigation of allegations 
that a member has failed to comply with their authority’s Code of Conduct; and

• to consider appeals from members against the decisions of local authority standards 
committees that they have breached the Code of Conduct (“Appeal Tribunals”).

The APW’s Regulations
The APW operates in accordance with its procedural regulations and other associated 
legislation. The regulations ensure that all cases heard by the APW are treated fairly, 
consistently, promptly and justly. They ensure that everyone who comes before the APW 
clearly understands the steps they must take so that the facts of the dispute and the relevant 
arguments can be presented effectively to the APW. They also ensure that every party to 
a case understands the arguments of the other party and can respond to them.

Page 80



5

APW’s procedures are governed by the following legislation:
• The Local Government Act 2000 (as amended);
• The Adjudications by Case Tribunals and Interim Case Tribunals (Wales) 

Regulations 2001 (as amended), and
• The Local Government Investigations (Functions of Monitoring Officers and Standards 

Committees)(Wales) Regulations 2001 (as amended).

The APW’s Process
Anyone wishing to respond to a reference from the PSOW or to make an application for 
permission to appeal to the APW, must complete and send the relevant form to the APW. 

At an APW hearing the panel is composed of a legally qualified chairperson and 2 lay 
members. APW hearings will normally be held in public and take place near to the 
authority area. 

The APW publishes its decisions on the website for the APW. Decisions of Case Tribunals 
can be appealed on limited grounds to the High Court. Permission to appeal to the 
High Court must first be sought from the High Court.

Full information and guidance about the APW and its procedures, are provided on the 
website for the APW. Alternatively please contact the APW secretariat for further information 
or if you would like to receive publications in a different format. The contact details can be 
found on page 6.

Members of the APW
Appointments to the APW are made by the First Minister after consideration of 
recommendations made by the Judicial Appointments Commission.

President  The President has judicial responsibility for the APW 
and its members.

Legal Members  Legal members are lawyers and have responsibility 
for conducting proceedings at hearings and advising 
the Secretariat on matters of law. Legal members write 
APW decisions and give directions where necessary.

Lay Members  Lay members have a wide range of knowledge and experience 
relevant to the work of the APW.

Secretariat  The day-to-day administration is largely delegated to the 
secretariat which deals with all the preliminary paperwork 
and the processing of applications to the APW. The secretariat 
consults the President and/or legal members on all legal 
points arising during the preliminary pre-hearing stages of the 
proceedings and passes on any rulings and directions in writing 
to the parties. The secretariat acts as a point of contact for 
chairpersons, members and APW users and attends hearings 
to help with the efficient running of proceedings.

Page 81



6

Appointments
In January 2016, 3 legal members and 4 lay members were appointed to the APW. Of the 
legal members appointed, Mrs Claire Sharp has recently been appointed as the President 
of the APW with effect from 1 May 2016.

Training
A training seminar was held during November 2014. No training was held during 2015/16 due 
to the recruitment of new members. A regular programme of performance appraisal for APW 
members has been completed over previous years. Due to the new appointments this year, 
it is anticipated that the next round of performance appraisal for APW members will start 
during the course of the 2017/18 year.

Contacting the APW
To contact the APW Secretariat:

APW Address: Adjudication Panel for Wales
 Government Buildings
 Spa Road East
 Llandrindod Wells
 Powys
 LD1 5HA

APW Helpline: 03000 259805
APW Fax: 03000 259801
APW E-mail: adjudication.panel@wales.gsi.gov.uk 

Accessing the APW
The APW is happy to communicate with you in English or Welsh. If a Welsh speaker is not 
immediately available then we will arrange for a Welsh-speaking member of staff to phone 
you back.  

You can choose to have your hearing conducted in Welsh or English. If your first language 
is not Welsh or English and you wish to speak in your first language during the hearing, 
we can arrange for an interpreter to be present. If you need a sign language interpreter 
to attend the hearing we will arrange this.

President 
Claire Sharp

2 legal members 4 lay members

Page 82

mailto:adjudication.panel%40wales.gsi.gov.uk?subject=


7

If you or anyone you are bringing to the hearing has any other access requirements 
that may affect our arrangements for the hearing, provisions will be made.

To enable arrangements for interpreters or to make provisions for any additional needs 
of attendees, sufficient notice must be given to the secretariat. 

Section 2 – Performance and Progress

In this section:

• Numbers and statistics
• Hearings Data
• Onward appeals
• Achievement against key performance indicators
• Complaints

Numbers and Statistics
A Tribunal year runs from April to March. This report covers 2 tribunal years. As the numbers 
of cases received are relatively low, figures are given for a 5 year period to allow for 
comparison.

The following statistics are collated:
• Number of references and appeals received 
• Type of applications received and registered
• Number of applications finalised 
• Outcome of applications

Graph 2.1: Number of references and appeals received by year

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

2015-2016 2014-2015 2013-2014 2012-2013 2011-2012

References

Appeals

Page 83



8

Graph 2.2: Number of references and appeals decided by year April 2011-March 2016

Charts 2.3 and 2.4: Outcomes of references and appeals April 2011-March 2016

The chart below shows the outcome of references decided by the Adjudication Panel 
over the last 5 years.

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

2015-2016 2014-2015 2013-2014 2012-2013 2011-2012

References

Appeals

17%

Disqualified

Suspended

Censured

33%

50%

Page 84



9

The chart below shows the outcome of appeals decided by the Adjudication Panel  
over the last 5 years

Graph 2.5: Percentage of breaches by type April 2011-March 2016

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

B
rin

gi
ng

 o
ffi

ce
/a

ut
ho

rit
y

in
to

 d
is

re
pu

te

Fa
ilu

re
 to

 d
is

cl
os

e
 in

te
re

st
 a

nd
/o

r w
ith

dr
aw

Fa
ilu

re
 to

 s
ho

w
 re

sp
ec

t/
eq

ua
lit

y/
bu

lly
in

g

Fa
ilu

re
 to

 c
o-

op
er

at
e

w
ith

 O
m

bu
ds

m
an

M
is

us
e 

of
 p

os
iti

on

D
is

cl
os

ur
e 

of
co

nf
id

en
tia

l i
nf

or
m

at
io

n

O
th

er
 b

od
y’

s 
co

de

C
om

pr
om

is
in

g
im

pa
rti

al
ity

 o
f e

m
pl

oy
ee

M
is

us
e 

of
au

th
or

ity
’s

 re
so

ur
ce

s

Fa
ilu

re
 to

 o
bs

er
ve

 ru
le

s
fo

r c
la

im
in

g 
ex

pe
ns

es

Fa
ilu

re
 to

 re
ac

h 
de

ci
si

on
s

on
 m

er
it/

in
 p

ub
lic

 in
te

re
st

s

12%

Suspension

Censure

No Breach
50%

38%

Page 85



10

Hearings data
During 2014 – 2016, 2 referrals from the PSOW and 2 appeals against the determination 
of standard committees proceeded to hearing, resulting in a total of 5 hearing days:

Type Length (in days)
Referrals 2 hearing days
Appeal 3 hearing days

There were also 4 telephone conferences which took place in relation to these cases.

Onward appeals
Applications for permission to appeal a decision of a Case Tribunal of Interim Case 
Tribunal can be made to the High Court on limited grounds. Over the period of this report, 
no applications for permission have been made.

Achievement against key performance indicators
To monitor how effectively services are delivered, we have key performance indicators 
aimed at measuring two key aspects of our business; the speed of our service and the 
quality of service through customer satisfaction.

To measure the speed of our service, we have a series of primary performance indicators 
based on the time taken to process an application – from receipt to the hearing or disposal 
(see below). To measure customer satisfaction, we use an indicator that is derived from 
feedback forms that are issued when a case is complete (see section 4).

Speed of our service 2014-2016

Target:  100% of notices of hearing issued to 
respondent/appellant at least 15 working days 
prior to the hearing and at least 5 working days 
prior to any adjourned hearing.

Target:  100% of notices of hearing issued to witnesses 
within 10 working days of the hearing.

Target:  90% of decision reports issued within 
30 working days of the hearing.

Target:  75% of applications discharged within 
12 months.

Target:  95% of queries dealt with or cases accepted 
within 10 working days of receipt.

Target achieved in  
100% of cases.

Target achieved in  
100% of cases.

Target achieved in  
100% of cases.

Target achieved in  
40% of cases.

Target achieved in  
80% of cases.

Page 86



11

Complaints
The APW received no formal complaints during the reporting period.

Section 3: Case summaries

In this section:

• References
• Appeals

References
During the reporting period 2 case tribunal hearings took place resulting from references 
from the Ombudsman. Summaries of the cases determined by the APW appear below.

APW/002/2014-015/CT  
Llanfihangel ar Arth Community Council

The allegation was that the councillor had breached Llanfihangel ar Arth Community Council’s 
Code of Conduct by failing to declare a personal and prejudicial interest at a meeting of the 
Community Council.

The incident arose when a planning application on land adjacent to a property owned by 
the councillor was considered by the Community Council, and a secret ballot held to decide 
whether or not the Council would support or oppose the application.

The Case Tribunal found by unanimous decision that the councillor failed to comply with 
Llanfihangel ar Arth Community Council’s Code of Conduct as follows:
• Where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority and you attend 

a meeting at which that business is considered, you must disclose orally to that meeting 
the existence and nature of that interest before or at the commencement  
of that consideration, or when the interest becomes apparent (paragraph 11(1)); 

• Where you have a prejudicial interest in any business of your authority, you must, 
unless you have obtained a dispensation from your authority’s Standards Committee, 
withdraw from the room, chamber or place where a meeting is considering the business 
is being held (paragraph 14(1)).

The Case Tribunal concluded by unanimous decision that the councillor should be suspended 
from acting as a member of Llanfihangel ar Arth Community Council for a period of 3 months.

APW/001/2015-016/CT  
Magor with Undy Community Council

The allegation was that the councillor had breached Magor with Undy Community Council’s 
Code of Conduct by not declaring or leaving a meeting where the Community Council 
considered the remuneration package of the clerk. 

The incident arose as the councillor was in a relationship with the clerk, and they married 
several months later.

Page 87



12

The Case Tribunal found by unanimous decision that the councillor failed to comply 
with Magor with Undy Community Council’s Code of Conduct as follows:
• You must not conduct yourself in a manner which could reasonably be regarded 

as bringing your office or authority into disrepute (paragraph 6(1)(a));
• Where you have a prejudicial interest in any business of your authority, you must, 

unless you have obtained a dispensation from your authority’s Standards Committee, 
withdraw from the room, chamber or place where a meeting is considering the business 
is being held (paragraph 14(1)).

The Case Tribunal concluded by unanimous decision that the councillor should be suspended 
from acting as a member of Magor with Undy Community Council for a period of 3 months. 
It also recommended that the councillor undertook further training about the Code of Conduct 
before returning to office.

Appeals
During the reporting period 2 appeal tribunal hearings took place resulting from appeals 
by members of decisions by Local Authority Standards Committees. Summaries of the cases 
determined by the APW appear below.

APW/001/2014-015/AT 
Sully and Lavernock Community Council

An appeal was received against the determination of the standards committee that the 
councillor had breached Sully and Lavernock Community Council’s Code of Conduct 
and should be suspended from office for 6 months and was required to undergo training.

The standards committee had found that the councillor had breached the following 
paragraphs of the Code of Conduct in emails about another member of the 
Community Council:
• You must show respect and consideration for others (paragraph 4(b));
• You must not conduct yourself in a manner which could reasonably be regarded 

as bringing your office or authority into disrepute (paragraph 6 (1)(a)).

The councillor appealed on the basis that the standards committee had failed to give sufficient 
weight to the evidence that the emails were sent from a private email address and in his 
capacity as a private citizen, and ignored the provocation by the member who was the subject 
of the emails. The councillor also submitted that the sanction imposed was disproportionate.

The Appeal Tribunal found that some of the emails had been sent in a private capacity, 
but some were official. It also found that some of the emails were political expressions and 
attracted enhanced protection under Article 10 of the European Convention of Human Rights.

The Appeal Tribunal concluded by unanimous decision that the councillor had not breached 
Sully and Lavernock Community Council’s Code of Conduct and overturned the decision 
of the standards committee.

Page 88



13

APW/003/2014-015/AT  
Isle of Anglesey County Council

An appeal was received against the determination of the standards committee that the 
councillor had breached the Isle of Anglesey County Council’s Code of Conduct and should 
be suspended from office for 1 month.

The standards committee had found that the councillor had breached the Code of Conduct 
when communicating with officers of the Council about the sale of a particular piece of 
land; when the councillor failed to declare a close personal association with the prospective 
purchaser of the land and when the councillor misused his position as a member to gain 
an advantage for the prospective purchaser:

The Standards Committee indicated that the following paragraphs of the code of conduct 
had been breached:
• You must not in your official capacity or otherwise, use or attempt to use your position 

improperly to confer on or secure for yourself, or any other person, an advantage or create 
or avoid for yourself, or any other person, a disadvantage (paragraph 7(a));

• You must in all matters consider whether you have a personal interest, and whether this 
code of conduct requires you to disclose that interest (paragraph 10(1));

• Where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority and you attend 
a meeting at which that business is considered, you must disclose orally to that 
meeting the existence and nature of that interest before or at the commencement of that 
consideration, or when the interest becomes apparent (paragraph 11(1)); 

• Where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority and you make 
written representations (whether by letter, facsimile or some other form of electronic 
communication) to a member or officer of your authority regarding that business, 
you should include details of that interest in the written communication  
(paragraph 11(2)(a));

• Where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority and you make 
oral representations (whether in person or some form of electronic communication) 
to a member or officer of your authority you should disclose the interest at the 
commencement of such representations, or when it becomes apparent to you that 
you have such an interest, and confirm the representation and interest in writing within  
14 days of the representation (paragraph 11(2)(b));

• Where you have a prejudicial interest in any business of your authority, you must, 
unless you have obtained a dispensation from your authority’s Standards Committee, 
withdraw from the room, chamber or place where a meeting is considering the business 
is being held (paragraph 14(1)(a));

• Where you have a prejudicial interest in any business of your authority you must, unless you 
have obtained a dispensation from your authority’s standards committee, not seek to 
influence a decision about that business; not make any written representations (whether by 
letter, facsimile or some other form of electronic communication) in relation to that business 
(paragraph 14(1)(c-d)).

Page 89



14

The councillor appealed on the basis that he did not have a longstanding relationship with the 
prospective purchaser, and that the sanction of suspension did not properly take into account 
the harm done to him and his family once the matter was published in the press.

The Appeal Tribunal concluded by unanimous decision that the councillor did have a close 
association with the prospective purchaser and had breached Isle of Anglesey County 
Council’s Code of Conduct. It referred the matter back to the standards committee with 
a recommendation that the councillor should be suspended from office for 3 months.

Section 4 – Our Customers

In this section:

• Customer satisfaction survey

Customer satisfaction survey
The APW strives to improve customer service delivery and its aim is to put our customers 
at the heart of everything we do.

During 2014-2016 the APW distributed a customer satisfaction survey on case completion.  
The feedback from the survey enables us to gain a better understanding of our customers’ 
needs and gives a valuable insight into what the APW is doing well, as well as highlighting 
those areas where the APW needs to improve.

We received 2 completed forms during 2014-2016. Of those:
• 100% of completed responses said the APW was prompt to respond;
• 100% of completed responses said the APW was polite and helpful;
• 100% of completed responses said they were satisfied with the information they received;
• 100% of completed responses said they were able to understand the process;
• 100% of completed responses said they found the information in the guidance forms 

useful; and
• 100% of completed responses said we processed the case efficiently.

Page 90



15

Section 5 – Business Priorities

In this section:

• Business priorities for 2016-2017

It is important that the APW continues to develop in order to deliver the best possible service 
for our customers. This section is about how the APW will build on its achievements through 
focusing on business priorities and our commitment to our customers.

Business Priorities 2016-2017
• Plan and deliver an all-members training event and induction for new members;
• Implement a new appraisal system for all members;
• Continue to monitor and update the APW website;
• Deliver an effective and efficient service, meeting key performance indicators 

and responding to feedback on customer satisfaction surveys.

Section 6 – Expenditure

In this section:

• Expenditure for 2014-2016

Expenditure for 2014-2015

Content Amount

Members Fees and Expenses for tribunal proceedings* £12,000

Tribunal events (hearing costs) £121.36

Total £12,121.66

* rounded to the nearest £1,000

Expenditure for 2015-2016

Content Amount

Members Fees and Expenses for tribunal proceedings* £15,000

Tribunal events (hearing costs) £6,577.78

Total £21,577.78

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO THE STANDARDS COMMITTEE  

30 NOVEMBER 2017

REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER

REVIEW OF ELECTED MEMBER ROLE DESCRIPTIONS

1. Purpose of Report

1.1 To provide Members with Elected Member Role Descriptions for the consideration 
of the Standards Committee.    

2. Connection to Corporate Improvement Plan / Other Corporate Priority

2.1 Standards are an implicit requirement in the successful implementation of the 
Corporate Themes.

3. Background

3.1 Elected Members have a wide range of roles and responsibilities which they are 
expected to undertake.  Elected Member Role Descriptions provide a framework 
which describes the purposes, activities and responsibilities regarding a variety of 
the key roles which they undertake.  

4. Current situation / proposal

4.1 In 2010, the Authority adopted the generic roles descriptions which had been 
produced by the Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA).  Following the 
introduction of the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 the WLGA developed 
a range of generic role descriptions which were then adapted to reflect the local 
practices and procedures in Bridgend.  These role descriptions were approved by 
Council on 1 May 2013. 

4.2 Following the Local Government elections in May 2017, it is considered appropriate 
to undertake a review of Member Role Descriptions to ensure that the role 
descriptions:

 Effectively cover the diversity of roles undertaken by councillors
 Meet the requirements of Elected Members and the WLGA Charter for Member 

Development and Support.  

4.3 Member Role Descriptions have now been developed from the model role 
descriptions produced by WLGA and tailored to the requirements of the roles 
undertaken by councillors within Bridgend Council.   

4.4 The role for the Standards Committee Chairperson and Standards Committee 
Member are attached as Appendix 1 and 2.    

Page 93

Agenda Item 7



5. Effect upon Policy Framework& Procedure Rules

5.1 None.  

6. Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 None. 

7. Financial Implications

7.1 None.   

8. Recommendation

It is recommended that the Committee:

8.1 considers and agrees any amendments to the appended Member Role Descriptions 
as necessary;

8.2 note that the role descriptions will be submitted to Council for approval on 20th 
December 2017.      

Contact Officer: Mr P A Jolley  
Corporate Director – Operational & Partnership Services and 
Monitoring Officer

Telephone: (01656) 643106
E-mail: Andrew. Jolley@bridgend.gov.uk 

Postal Address Level 2,
Civic Offices, 
Angel Street, 
Bridgend
CF31 4WB 

Background Documents
None 

Page 94



Role Description:  Standards Committee Chairperson November 2017
Page 1 of 2

Standards Committee Chairperson

Role Description

1 Accountabilities

 To Full Council

2 Role Purpose and Activity

 Providing leadership and direction

 To act within technical, legal and procedural requirements to oversee the 
functions of the committee fairly and correctly

 To ensure thoroughness and objectivity in the committee, receiving and 
responding to professional advice on the Code of Conduct

 To demonstrate independence, integrity and impartiality in decision making 
which accord with legal, constitutional and policy requirements

 To provide confident and effective management of meetings to facilitate 
inclusivity, participation and clear decision making

 To lead the committee in its role in: 

 promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by Councillors 
and co-opted members 

 assisting the Councillors and co-opted members to observe the 
Members’ Code of Conduct;

 advising the Council on the adoption or revision of the Members’ Code 
of Conduct;

 monitoring the operation of the Members’ Code of Conduct;
 advising, training or arranging to train Councillors, co-opted members 

on matters relating to the Members’ Code of Conduct;
 granting dispensations to Councillors and co-opted members 
 dealing with any reports from a case tribunal or interim case tribunal, 

and any report from the Monitoring Officer on any matter referred to 
that officer by the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales.

 the exercise of these functions in relation to community councils and 
the members of those community councils.

3. Values
To be committed to and demonstrate the following values in public office:

 Openness and transparency
 Honesty and integrity

Page 95



Role Description:  Standards Committee Chairperson November 2017
Page 2 of 2

 Tolerance and respect
 Equality and fairness
 Appreciation of cultural difference 
 Sustainability
 Inclusive leadership
 Consensus building

Page 96



Role Description:  Standards Committee Member November 2017
Page 1 of 2

Standards Committee Member

Role Description

1 Accountabilities

 To Full Council
 To the Chair of the Standards Committee

2 Role purpose and activity

 Understanding the nature of the Standards committee and effectively 
fulfilling its functions by:

 promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by Councillors and co-
opted members 

 assisting the Councillors and co-opted members to observe the Members’ 
Code of Conduct;

 advising the Council on the adoption or revision of the Members’ Code of 
Conduct;

 monitoring the operation of the Members’ Code of Conduct;
 advising, training or arranging to train Councillors, co-opted members on 

matters relating to the Members’ Code of Conduct;
 granting dispensations to Councillors and co-opted members 
 dealing with any reports from a case tribunal or interim case tribunal, and any 

report from the Monitoring Officer on any matter referred to that officer by the 
Public Services Ombudsman for Wales.

 To have sufficient technical, legal and procedural knowledge to contribute 
fairly and correctly to the function of the committee.

 
 To be thorough and objective in receiving and responding to professional 

advice in the conduct of meetings and issues before the committee  

 Participating in meetings and making decisions

 To participate effectively in meetings of the Standards committee, 

 To make informed and balanced decisions, within the terms of reference of 
the committee, which accord with legal, constitutional and policy 
requirements

 Internal governance, ethical standards and relationships

 To ensure the integrity of the committee’s decision making and of his/ her 
own role by adhering to the Code of Conduct(s) and other constitutional and 
legal requirements

Page 97



Role Description:  Standards Committee Member November 2017
Page 2 of 2

 To promote and support good governance by the Council

 To understand the respective roles of members, officers and external parties 
operating within the Standards committee’s area of responsibility

3. Values
To be committed to and demonstrate the following values in public office:

 Openness and transparency
 Honesty and integrity
 Tolerance and respect
 Equality and fairness
 Appreciation of cultural difference 
 Sustainability

Page 98



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO THE STANDARDS COMMITTEE  

30 NOVEMBER 2017

REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER

ELECTED MEMBER LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

1. Purpose of Report

1.1 To provide Members with the Elected Member Learning and Development Strategy 
for information.      

2. Connection to Corporate Improvement Plan / Other Corporate Priority

2.1 Elected Members have a wide range of roles and responsibilities that they are 
expected to undertake.  The Elected Member Learning & Development Strategy 
provides a framework for the development of key skills and knowledge of all Elected 
Members and will assist in the achievement of all the following Corporate Priorities.

1. Supporting a successful economy – taking steps to make the county a 
good place to do business, for people to live, work, study and visit, and to 
ensure that our schools are focused on raising the skills, qualifications and 
ambitions of all people in the county. 

2. Helping people to be more self-reliant – taking early steps to reduce or 
prevent people from becoming vulnerable or dependent on the Council and 
its services.

3. Smarter use of resources – ensuring that all its resources (financial, 
physical, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the development of resources throughout the 
community that can help deliver the Council’s Priorities. 

3. Background

3.1 The Elected Member Learning and Development Strategy 2012-17 was approved 
by Council in 2013.  It provided a framework which set out the structure of learning 
and development for all Elected Members from their election and throughout a term 
of office.

3.2 At its meeting on 6 September 2017, Council approved its intention to make 
a submission for the Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA) Charter for 
Member Support and Development.  One of the requirements of the Charter is for a 
Member Development Strategy to be approved by Council.

4. Current situation / proposal

Page 99

Agenda Item 8



4.1 A desktop review of the Strategy (attached as Appendix 1) has been undertaken to 
ensure that it is fit for purpose and updated to reflect a number of factors which 
have changed since the approval of the original Elected Member Learning and 
Development Strategy.

4.2 Following Council’s decision to achieve the WLGA Charter for Member Support and 
Development, it is hoped that the changes to the Strategy will encourage 
appropriate attendance and participation in member development events.

5. Effect upon Policy Framework& Procedure Rules

5.1 None.  

6. Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 None. 

7. Financial Implications

7.1 None.   

8. Recommendation

8.1 It is recommended that the Committee note the report and the Strategy attached as 
Appendix 1. 

Contact Officer: Mr P A Jolley  
Corporate Director – Operational & Partnership Services and 
Monitoring Officer

Telephone: (01656) 643106
E-mail: Andrew. Jolley@bridgend.gov.uk 

Postal Address Level 2,
Civic Offices, 
Angel Street, 
Bridgend
CF31 4WB 

Background Documents
None 

Page 100



Appendix 1

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

ELECTED MEMBER 
LEARNING & DEVELOPMENT

STRATEGY

2017-2022

Page 101



1
Page 102



2

Contents
Introduction ...........................................................................................................................3
Expectations of the Elected Member Learning and Development Strategy .........................4

A Phased Approach ..........................................................................................................5
Roles and Responsibilities for Elected Member Learning and Development ...................6

Head of Democratic Services ........................................................................................6
Democratic Services Committee ...................................................................................6
Political Leaders ............................................................................................................7
Directorates and Departments.......................................................................................7
Individual Members .......................................................................................................7

Phase 1 - Administration.......................................................................................................7
Phase 2 – The Essentials .....................................................................................................7

The Chief Executive: .........................................................................................................8
The Monitoring Officer:......................................................................................................8
Head of Democratic Services............................................................................................8

Phase 3 – The Core Functions .............................................................................................8
Phase 4 – Identifying the Needs of Individual Councillors....................................................8

Identification of learning and development needs.............................................................8
As an individual .............................................................................................................9
Role Specific..................................................................................................................9
Corporate and Constitutional .........................................................................................9
Regional and National Initiatives ...................................................................................9
Mentoring.......................................................................................................................9

Phase 5 – Continuing Development ...................................................................................10
Member Development Activity Survey ............................................................................10
Pre-Council Briefings ......................................................................................................10
Prioritisation of Member Development activities .............................................................10
Member Development Programme .................................................................................11
Methods of learning and development ............................................................................11
Access to learning and development opportunities.........................................................12
Attendance at Member Development Events..................................................................12
The Learning & Development Website, the All Wales Academy (AWA).........................13
Learning and development records.................................................................................13
Resources .......................................................................................................................13

Potential Candidate Briefings .............................................................................................14
Evaluation ...........................................................................................................................14

Evaluation of Individual Events: ......................................................................................14
Evaluation of Phases of the Member Development Strategy..........................................14
Evaluation of Training Facilitators ...................................................................................14

Review of the Elected Member Learning and Development Strategy ................................14

Page 103



3

Introduction

Elected Members today face increasing challenges. Under the modernisation agenda, there 
are heightened expectations on them to undertake a diversity of roles ranging from that of 
community leader to assuming additional responsibilities within their Council. Throughout 
Wales, Authorities are striving to provide the best possible support for their Members to 
enable them to meet these challenges. This takes the form of skills and knowledge 
development, support facilities, and support services. 

Increasing attention has been given to Elected Member Development.  The Local 
Government (Wales) Measure 2011 directed that local authorities place more emphasis on 
Member Development.  This supports the aims of the Wales Charter for Member Support 
and Development which was created to give structure and impetus to the growing body of 
support services for Elected Members within Welsh Local Government.  The Charter has 
been developed collaboratively by the Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA), 
Members and Member Support Officers.  It aims to provide a broad framework for local 
planning, self assessment, action and review.  This can be enhanced by working together 
with relevant networks by comparison with other Authorities and in sharing good and 
innovative practice.

Bridgend County Borough Council aims to achieve entry level Charter Status in 2018.  The 
Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 and the Charter will provide focus and guidance 
for future work.  The needs of Members in this Authority are of paramount importance.

The Elected Member Learning and Development Strategy sets out the development 
priorities for the induction of newly Elected Members, the identification of their 
development needs and the subsequent delivery of development activities. 

The strategy will assist in equipping all Members with the necessary skills and knowledge 
to meet future challenges.

Page 104



4

Expectations of the Elected Member Learning and Development 
Strategy

Elected Members are an integral part of ensuring that the strategic aims and objectives of 
the Council are met and that high quality cost effective services are delivered to the 
residents of the County Borough of Bridgend.

The Council is working to support the development of all of its Elected Members and to 
ensure that they are able meet the demands of their roles.  Bridgend County Borough 
Council is therefore committed to ensuring that:

 There is a planned and structured approach to Elected Member learning and 
development.

 Elected Members have access to appropriate learning and development activities to 
enable them to acquire the knowledge and skills required to be an effective Elected 
Member.

 Learning and development, wherever possible, is linked to the roles of Elected 
Members.

 Access to learning and development activities is equitable.

 Members are encouraged to identify their own development needs and participate fully 
in learning and development activities.

 All Members will have access to a Personal Development Review (PDR) process that 
identifies learning and development needs with any additional support that may be 
required.

 The Member Development Programme will be produced and updated on a regular 
basis in order to support the Council’s strategic plans, the roles and functions of 
Members and key changes affecting the Council’s priorities.

 Member learning and development activity is adequately resourced within available 
budgets.

 It is the intention of BCBC to gain the Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA) 
Charter for Member Support and Development.

Page 105



5

A Phased Approach
A systematic induction programme will be provided for all newly Elected Members.  The 
initial induction and subsequent Member Development Programme will be delivered as 
part of the following phased approach:

MEMBER DEVELOPMENT

Core Learning

P1 P2 P3 P4 P5

Individual Learning

M
ee

tin
g 

th
e 

st
at

ut
or

y 
re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
 a

nd
 

es
ta

bl
is

hi
ng

 n
ew

ly
 e

le
ct

ed
 

m
em

be
rs

 w
ith

in
 th

e 
C

ou
nc

il

P
re

pa
ra

tio
n 

fo
r e

ffe
ct

iv
e 

pa
rti

ci
pa

tio
n 

in
 C

ou
nc

il 
m

ee
tin

gs

To
 p

ro
vi

de
 a

n 
un

de
rs

ta
nd

in
g 

of
 th

e 
ro

le
s 

to
 

w
hi

ch
 E

le
ct

ed
 m

em
be

rs
 a

re
 

ap
po

in
te

d

U
nd

er
ta

ke
 P

er
so

na
l 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t R
ev

ie
w

s 
to

 
id

en
tif

y 
tra

in
9i

ng
 n

ee
ds

C
on

tin
ua

l P
ro

fe
ss

io
na

l 
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t o
f a

 ro
lli

ng
 

M
em

be
r D

ev
el

op
m

en
t 

P
ro

gr
am

m
e 

th
at

 m
ee

ts
 

th
e 

ne
ed

s 
of

 th
e 

in
di

vi
du

al
Generic Bespoke

Outcomes

All 
Acceptances 

of Office 
completed

Member 
induction 

administration 
completed

All Members 
have a basic 
knowledge of 
the Council 

and its 
structure and 

role

Code of 
Conduct 

completed by 
all Members

Elected 
Members are 

able to 
effectively 
undertake 

their role at 
Council 

meetings

Members 
understand 
their roles to 
which they 
have been 

appointed by 
Council or 
Cabinet

Members 
understand their 

role in their 
wards

Members are 
aware of their 
responsibilities 

when 
representing 
the Authority

Members 
have been 
offered a 
Member 

Mentor or 
suitably 

trained officer 
to assist their 
development 

Members 
undertake a 
PDR/TNA 
annually to 

identify their 
support and 
development 

needs

The Member 
Development 
Programme 
is compiled 

to meet 
Corporate 

and Elected 
Member 
priorities

Member 
Development 
activities are 
relevant, cost 
effective and 
delivered to a 

high 
standard.

The training 
and support 

provided 
meets the 
developing 
needs of 
Elected 

Members 

Phase 1

Admin

Phase 2

The
Essentials

Phase 3

The
Core 

functions

Phase 4

Identifying the 
Needs of 

Councillors

Phase 5
 

Continuing 
Development

Collaboration 
with other 

Local 
Authorities 

will be 
considered 

for the 
delivery of 
learning 
activities 

where 
appropriate 

Evaluation to ensure that the required outcomes are achieved

Page 106



6

Roles and Responsibilities for Elected Member Learning and Development

Head of Democratic Services 

The role of the Head of Democratic Services is to produce and monitor the Member 
Development Programme, to collate any identified learning and development needs, and 
to subsequently use these to inform and plan the on-going Member Development 
Programme.  

Democratic Services Committee

The Democratic Services Committee will provide direction to the Head of Democratic 
Services in respect of the development and support requirements of Elected Members.  
This will include the priorities for learning and development and appropriate use of the 
Member Development budget.

The Committee will categorise development activities, identify the relevant participants to 
attend events and those topics which could be delivered on a tiered basis.  

To assist elected members prioritise which topics are needed to be attended, the 
Democratic Services Committee will categorise member development topics during the 
development of the Member Development programme as follows:

Essential Those training topics for quasi-judicial functions and those 
which are key to an elected member’s role e.g. Corporate 
Parenting, Data Protection and Safeguarding.

Recommended This category may include topics such as Risk Management 
and Scrutiny Questioning Skills which although are very 
informative and support a councillor’s role will are not essential.  

Optional This category identifies topics that may be useful to some 
councillors but these are not a priority and could be considered 
as interesting and useful rather than supporting a councillors 
role or considered as essential.

These categories can be prescribed by the Democratic Services Committee to all 
members for some topics or to target a specific group of councillors i.e. all scrutiny 
members or all of the Appeals Panel.  

The Democratic Services Committee will also consider benefits could be achieved by 
providing tiered level of training rather than provide at a single level event.  This would 
enable one level for those elected members with existing skills, knowledge or abilities and 
for a more detailed introduction for those members who were new to the topic.   

For those topics which have been arranged at short notice and the Democratic Services 
Committee is unable to categorise the topic, it is proposed that the Chairperson of the 
Democratic Services Committee in liaison with Head of Democratic Services categorise 
the topics as necessary.

Page 107



7

Political Leaders

The role of political leaders from all groups is to pledge commitment to learning and 
development for Elected Members and to actively support and promote the Member 
Learning and Development Strategy.

Directorates and Departments

Directorates and Departments are responsible for identifying and delivering service 
specific learning and development in co-ordination with the Head of Democratic Services 
and the Democratic Services Committee

Individual Members

Individual Members are responsible for:

 identifying their own development needs;

 seeking opportunities to improve their effectiveness and increase their potential;

 attending arranged learning and development activities;

 sharing their knowledge and skills with their peers;

 reviewing their learning and development activities;

 applying the knowledge and skills developed through the activities; and for

 completing their Personal Development Reviews 

Co-ordination

The day-to-day co-ordination of learning and development activities will be the 
responsibility of the Head of Democratic Services and the Democratic Services Team in 
liaison with Organisational Development.

Details of each phase of the strategy are as follows:

Phase 1 - Administration

To establish the newly Elected Members within the Council and will include:

 Fulfilling their statutory requirements regarding their Acceptance of Office and 
completing their Declaration of Personal Interests, 

 Creation of ICT accounts and provision of ICT equipment.
 The provision of personal information in order to set up remuneration payments, web 

pages and enable officers to carry out other necessary administrative functions.
 A briefing of the facilities available to Elected Members within the Authority
 The taking of official photographs for use on the BCBC website and ID cards

Phase 2 – The Essentials

To provide Elected Members with sufficient knowledge to prepare them to undertake their 
initial role in the support of Council business.  This phase may include briefings on the 
following topics from key officers:

Page 108



8

The Chief Executive:
 Overview of the Council its services and structures

Corporate Directors:

 Directorate Service Provision – challenges and achievements 

The Monitoring Officer:
 Introduction to Local Government
 Constitution and meeting procedures
 Code of Conduct

Head of Democratic Services

 Roles of and appointment to committees
 The electronic systems within the Council suite

Phase 3 – The Core Functions

To provide Elected Members with the knowledge and skills to enable them to undertake 
their core functions as Elected Members.  It is intended to provide a sound basis for 
decision making which is required by councillors to carry out their role effectively.  

 Audit Committee
 Development Control Committee
 Overview and Scrutiny Committees
 Democratic Services Committee
 Licensing Committee
 Appeals Panel
 Chairing Skills
 Questioning Skills
 Corporate Parenting
 Safeguarding
 Member Referrals 
 Ward and Casework
 Delegated Powers

Phase 4 – Identifying the Needs of Individual Councillors

With the possibility of a large number of new Elected Members after an election, it will be 
necessary to undertake a Personal Development Review (PDR) processes with either an 
Elected Member peer or with assistance from suitably trained officers as soon as possible.  

Identification of learning and development needs

Learning and development needs will be identified at a number of levels.

Page 109



9

As an individual

 Newly Elected Members will have an opportunity to discuss their learning and 
development needs with:
o a suitable mentor as part of their induction;
o as part of the PDR process where learning and development needs can be 

identified.

Role Specific

 Role descriptions will be used as an aid to identify development needs particularly 
during the PDR process.

 Members whose roles change will be required to review their learning and 
development needs.

 The identification of learning and development needs at political group level be 
achieved by consultation with the Head of Democratic Services and through the 
feedback from the Democratic Services Committee.

Corporate and Constitutional

 Member Development will be linked to corporate and constitutional priorities by the 
Head of Democratic Services in liaison with the Chief Officers, Heads of Service 
and the Democratic Services Committee.

Regional and National Initiatives

 Requests are often received from regional bodies or national organisations to 
provide development opportunities on key issues.  These events will be integrated 
by the Head of Democratic Services into the Member Development Programme but 
may be in addition to the usual monthly activities.  

Mentoring

The formal mentoring of Elected Members by experienced Members is strongly 
recommended and will be offered to all newly Elected Members.  This will enable the 
mentee to develop the skills, knowledge, understanding and behaviours required for the 
Elected Member role.  This is not a prescriptive or directive relationship but one which 
allows the mentee to find their own way, guided by the mentor.

Guidance for Member mentors has been developed by the Welsh Local Government 
Association (WLGA).  It is anticipated that Member mentors will be identified and 
appropriate training will be provided to ensure that all Members are able to receive the 
appropriate level of support for their personal development.  Workshops based on the 
WLGA guidance will be available for those identified to undertake a mentoring role.

Returning Members that do not require mentoring will be provided with the opportunity to 
discuss their personal development as part of the PDR process with an Elected Member 
peer or a suitably trained officer.  These officers/peers will be able to assist Members with 

Page 110



10

identifying their training needs, arranging attendance at events and updating their PDPs 
and undertaking PDRs.

Phase 5 – Continuing Development

To provide Members with knowledge and skills related to:

 leading the community, 
 working with external partners
 developing those individual and specialist requirements identified within the PDR 

process and
 learning and development identified by the Democratic Services Committee.

Member Development Activity Survey

Elected Members will be surveyed shortly after their election to determine the number of 
topics, frequency and timings of development events that will be held each month.  This 
survey will be repeated at the mid-point of a term of office or when requested to do so by 
the Democratic Services Committee.

The survey carried out in 2017 identified that:

 the monthly topic will be delivered on two occasions - the second occasion being 
a repeat of the first.

 one of the sessions will be held on a Tuesday with the other session being held 
on a Wednesday (where appropriate)

 one of the monthly development sessions will start at 10.00 am with the other 
having a starting time of 4.00 pm (where appropriate).

These outcomes were approved by the Council on 26 July 17 and will be used when 
planning the Member Development Programme.

Pre-Council Briefings 

The current practice of pre-council briefings starting at 2.00pm and lasting approximately 
45 minutes duration be continued

Prioritisation of Member Development activities 

To manage and prioritise Member Development activities, all requests to provide training 
opportunities for Elected Members will include the following key information to assist when 
prioritising the delivery of Member Development events:

 The subject of the learning activity
 A brief outline description of the subject
 The requirement/justification to undertake this learning? i.e. is there a statutory 

requirement, is it part of an on-going initiative.
 Who forms the target audience?  i.e. All Members, Scrutiny Members etc.
 What are the expected/desired learning outcome/objectives?

Page 111



11

 Which officers/organisations will be delivering/facilitating this event?
 What is the anticipated duration of the session
 What type of training activity is suggested i.e. 1 hour presentation with questions, 45 

minute briefing, 2 hour interactive workshop etc.
 How will this activity be evaluated to show that the anticipated benefits have been 

achieved

The Head of Democratic Services will evaluate all requests and recommend to the 
Democratic Services Committee how these requests should be prioritised, categorised and 
if necessary tiered for inclusion in the Member Development Programme

Member Development Programme
It will be the responsibility of the Head of Democratic Services to prepare the Member 
Development Programme in line with the priorities determined by the Democratic Services 
Committee.  This will be a rolling programme that will confirm the Member Development 
events for the following three months with subsequent topics for further development 
activities being identified but not confirmed.  This will allow the programme to be flexible 
and adapt to the changing needs and priorities of Elected Members and the Authority.  

If time dependant learning opportunities arise and there is no meeting of the Democratic 
Services Committee planned before the delivery of the event the Chairperson of the 
Democratic Services Committee in liaison with the Head of Democratic Services will 
update the Member Development Programme as necessary.

The programme may also identify topics and events that will be suitable for 
representatives from the Town & Community Councils to also attend.

Methods of learning and development

A flexible approach to the delivery of learning and development opportunities will be 
adopted to meet the identified needs of individuals and groups.  A variety of methods may 
be used to deliver these opportunities and could include: seminars, workshops, e-learning 
and briefing sessions. Where appropriate, shared Member and officer development 
activities will be encouraged.

E-Learning

Greater use of the e-learning facilities will be incorporated into the member development 
programme and this will allow: 

 elected members to undertake 
o the Corporate Induction e-learning modules should be completed by all 

members in the first year of their term of office.

o Some topics such as Data Protection will be identified for inclusion in the 
Member Development programme and categorised by the Democratic Services 
Committee accordingly.  Councillors will be requested to complete the specified 
e-learning module by a particular date.  A subsequent report will be run by 
Organisational Development to confirm that the e-learning modules have been 
completed as requested with the Democratic Services committee being advised 
accordingly.

Page 112



12

 those returning councillors or those who have previously attended face-to face training 
on topics such as corporate parenting will be able to undertake the e-learning module 
rather than attending the annual repeat of the face-to-face training session.

 those members who are able to provide evidence that they have recently attended 
similar training in their professional roles can be credited with completing the training.

Opportunities may arise for regional development activities to be undertaken.  This will 
include topics of common interest on a regional or national basis.  These events may 
reduce costs and enhance outcomes because of the diversity of knowledge and 
experience of attendees, whilst also providing an opportunity for cross-council 
communication and collaboration.

Access to learning and development opportunities 

All Elected Members will have:

 the opportunity to benefit from learning and development opportunities, regardless of 
ability, race, colour, national ethic or social origin, gender, sexuality, sexual orientation, 
religion, age, disability, political or other personal beliefs.

 equal access to information relating to learning and development opportunities.

 equal access to participation in learning and development opportunities, taking into 
account the needs of their roles and responsibilities throughout their term of office with  
Authority, and their personal learning needs.

Attendance at Member Development Events

The Member Development Programme will be approved by the Democratic Services 
Committee and details included in the Bridgemembers magazine.  Announcements will 
also be made at Council meetings to advise Members of forthcoming Member 
Development activities.

Member Development Activities appointments will be placed in individual Elected 
Members electronic calendars.  Members will be requested respond electronically if they 
are unable to attend the activity.  It is vital that these responses are accurate as the 
facilitators of the events are provided with the anticipated attendance numbers to tailor 
their delivery of the session.

The attendance of Elected Members at these Member Development Activities will be 
displayed on the BCBC website but the attendance figures will not be included in the 
overall meeting attendance figures.

At each session the attendance will be recorded and circulated to Organisational 
Development for recording on Trent.

A summary of attendance at training events will be compiled and circulated to Group 
Leaders on a regular basis in order that they can promote and encourage the attendance 
at Member Development activities to their Group.

Page 113



13

The Learning & Development Website, the All Wales Academy (AWA)

The Learning & Development Website and the All Wales Academy are online portals 
where suitable development opportunities are provided for Officers and Elected members.  
Elected Members may be requested to undertake an e-learning session as part of the 
Member Development Programme or they wish to undertake these learning activities for 
their own development.  Assistance can be provided by the Democratic Services Team 
and the Organisational Development Team to enable Members to engage with these 
learning activities.

E-learning completion reports will be provided to the Head of Democratic Services on a 
regular basis to monitor the activities particularly those included in the Member 
Development programme

All face to face learning and development activity presentations will be uploaded to the 
Learning and development website as a reference portal for all Elected Member related 
training.

Learning and development records

Democratic Services will collate information regarding Elected Member learning and 
development records including information regarding the development activities that have 
been identified, the booking of events, attendance at learning opportunities and the 
evaluation of individual training events that have been undertaken.

The Organisational Development Team will to be notified of any training that is undertaken 
by relevant departments.  It is expected that all departments involved in providing Member 
Development events also provide the relevant training records to the Organisational 
Development Team. 

These records can also be used to provide information for evaluation purposes and for the 
completion of Members Annual Reports which have been introduced as part of the Local 
Government (Wales) Measure 2011.

Resources

Elected Member learning and development, will be resourced from the allocated Member 
Development budget.  Reasonable allocation will be made as part of the annual budget 
round and applied with regard to the corporate needs of the Authority.  The Democratic 
Services Committee will monitor appropriate spend on the budget.  

In house training will be provided by Directorates if the topic relates to their service areas.  
The costs for this type of event will be met from within Directorate budgets and not from 
the Member Development budget

Directorates will also be responsible for funding designated Elected Members to attend 
relevant service area conferences and events.  The Democratic Services Team will co-
ordinate the funding for travelling and out of county subsistence allowances.

Page 114



14

Potential Candidate Briefings

In order to promote local democracy and the understanding of the role of a councillor 
briefings for potential candidates will be held prior to Local Government elections.  This 
event will inform those members of the public planning to stand for election of the:

 requirements they must meet in order to stand for election,
 election process
 roles and responsibilities they will be expected to undertake as a councillor
 skills, knowledge and commitment necessary to become an effective councillor
 structure and remit of the Council

Evaluation

It is the responsibility of the Head of Democratic Services to ensure that the evaluation of 
planned Member development events is carried out.  

Evaluation of Individual Events:

All training providers are required to incorporate an evaluation of the event into their 
learning session and Members will be asked to complete a learning and development 
evaluation form. 

Members are recommended to complete learning logs as part of their Personal 
Development Portfolio, this will to help them to assess the impact of any development on 
their role and function.

Evaluation forms will be analysed and the feedback collated into a report which will be 
presented to the Democratic Services Committee on a regular basis.  This will enable the 
Democratic Services Committee to evaluate the effectiveness of the Member Development 
Programme and ensure that the identified outcomes are achieved.

Evaluation of Phases of the Member Development Strategy

It is appropriate that an independent assessment of the phases or elements of the Member 
Learning & Development Strategy is undertaken.  It has been agreed that the WLGA will 
assist in this process and facilitate focus groups with Elected Members to help determine 
the effectiveness of the strategy.

Evaluation of Training Facilitators
To ensure that any learning and development activity provided to Elected Members is 
delivered to the highest standards and that the aims and objectives of the event are met, it 
is planned for an internal subject matter expert or the Head of Democratic Services to 
attend the event and evaluate the provider/facilitator.  This will be essential for events 
delivered by externally providers to ensure that value for money has been achieved and 
that effective training has been provided which meets the required outcomes.

Review of the Elected Member Learning and Development Strategy

Page 115



15

To ensure that the Elected Member Learning and Development Strategy remains an 
effective tool for the development of Elected Members it will be necessary to plan a review 
the strategy.  It is anticipated that the strategy will be reviewed during 2020 or at the 
request of the Democratic Services Committee and in response to relevant changes to 
legislation or to the Authority.

Page 116



Document is Restricted

Page 117

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 12 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 119

By virtue of paragraph(s) 12 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Cymeradwyaeth Cofnodion
	170727 Standards Committee Public Minutes

	4 Coflyfr yr Ombwdsmon
	The Ombudsmans Casebook  30 October 2017 Appendix
	_Hlk492979501
	_GoBack


	5 Un Llais Cymru - Protocol Enghreifftiol
	One Voice Wales Appendix

	6 Panel Dyfarnu ar gyfer Adroddiad Blynyddol Cymru
	5 - Appendix - Adjudication Panel for Wales Annual Report 2014-2015 - 2015-2016 Combined

	7 Adolygiad o Ddisgrifiadau Rolau'r Aelodau Etholedig
	Elected Member Role Description Appendix 1 Chairperson Standards
	Review of The Elected Member Role Description Appendix 2 Member Standards

	8 Strategaeth Dysgu a Datblygu'r Aelodau Etholedig
	Elected Member Learning  Development Strategy Appendix 1

	11 Cymeradwyaeth Cofnodion Gwahardd
	170727 Standards Committee Minutes Exempt


